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Audit & Finance Committee – Report to Convocation 
 

 
 

COMMITTEE PROCESS 
 

1. The Audit & Finance Committee (“the Committee”) met on May 13, 2020 by teleconference. 
 
2. Committee members in attendance were Teresa Donnelly (Chair), Lubomir Poliacik (Vice- 

Chair), Ryan Alford, Gary Graham, Philip Horgan, Shelina Lalji Nancy Lockhart, Michelle 
Lomazzo, Cecil Lyon, Clare Sellers, Tanya Walker. 

 
3. The Treasurer, Malcolm Mercer, attended. 

 
4. Other benchers in attendance were Jared Brown, Andrew Spurgeon, Alex Wilkes. 

 
5. Law Society staff in attendance: Diana Miles, Brenda Albuquerque-Boutilier, Christianne 

Abou-Saab, Andrew Cawse. 
 
6. Also in attendance: Brian White and Neil Tai-Pow (AON), Robert Laughton (Foyston, 

Gordon & Payne), Dan Pinnington and Krista Franklin (LAWPRO), Michael Hawtin(PWC) 
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 FOR DECISION  

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 2019  

Motion: 
That Convocation approve the audited annual financial statements for the Law 
Society of Ontario for the year ended December 31, 2019, including the net inter-
fund transfers listed in Note 14, which are as follows: 

 $2,265,000 from the Capital Allocation Fund to the Invested in Capital and
Intangible Assets Fund representing assets capitalized during the year in
compliance with the Society’s accounting policies;

 $1,200,000 from the Errors & Omissions Fund to the lawyer General Fund as
provided in the 2019 budget representing accumulated investment income,
surplus to the needs of the E&O Fund;

 $367,000 from the General Fund to the Special Projects Fund with funding
transferred to fund continuation of the family legal services provider initiative,
the next bencher election, the facilities condition assessment and the upgrade
of the human resources payroll information system;

 $131,000 from the General Fund to the Capital Allocation Fund capitalizing
audio-visual equipment; and

 $100,000 from the lawyer General Fund to the Repayable Allowance Fund, as
provided in the 2019 budget to fund the Repayable Allowance Program in the
Licensing Process.

The financial statements are accompanied by an unmodified opinion from the auditor. 
Michael Hawtin, Partner Assurance from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) will be in 
attendance. 

The financial statements present the financial position and operations of the Law 

Society and include the General Fund (or operating fund) and a number of special 

purpose or restricted funds. The restricted funds are described in the financial 

statements and are:  

 The Compensation Fund, restricted by the Law Society Act;

 The Errors & Omissions Insurance Fund (E&O Fund), the Capital Allocation

Fund, the Invested in Capital & Intangible Assets Fund, the County Libraries

Fund, the Repayable Allowance Fund, the Special Projects Fund and the

Parental Leave Assistance Fund, all restricted by policies of Convocation.

Inter-fund Transfers 

The net inter-fund transfers are listed in Note 14 to the Annual Financial Statements and 

are routine in nature. Generally, inter-fund transfers relate to the capitalization of capital 

and intangible assets at year-end or the transfer of budgeted funds to appropriate 
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Restricted Funds based on the criteria of the Fund. As these Funds are restricted by 

Convocation, the transfers are requested to be specifically approved by Convocation as 

part of the approval of the financial statements.   

As the Special Projects Fund sees the transfer of budgeted funds in and out of that 

Fund, the following information is intended to provide greater clarity.   

The net inter-fund transfer of $367,000 from the General Fund to the Special Projects 

Fund includes $721,000 of transfers from the General Fund to the Special Projects 

Fund offset by $354,000 of transfers from the Special Projects Fund to the General 

Fund. The Special Projects Fund ensures that budgeted funds that have been approved 

by Convocation and are intended for a specific initiative in a given budget year, remain 

available for the successful completion of the project in the following year if the project 

is delayed.   

In 2020, the transfers from General Fund to the Special Projects Fund relate to: 

 $555,000 to fund ongoing work pertaining to the Family Legal Services Provider

initiative. This amount was budgeted in 2019 in the lawyer and paralegal General

Funds, with activity on this initiative continuing into 2020;

 $120,000 to fund a Facilities Condition Assessment and 10-year Facility Plan that

will inform the capital budget for 2021 and onwards. The assessment was

budgeted and planned for late 2019.  With some large facilities projects ongoing

in late 2019 hindering the ability to complete the assessment, it was delayed to

early 2020;

 $36,000 to fund the continued upgrade of the Law Society’s human resource

payroll information system which commenced in 2019 and will continue into

2020.

 $10,000 to fund the next bencher election.  To evenly allocate the cost of the

bencher election over four years rather than budget for all election expenses in

one year, funds are transferred to the Special Projects Fund each year.  This

approach allows for the smoothing of the impact on annual fees.

Transfers from the Special Projects Fund to the General Fund relate to the following 

expenditures in 2019:  

 $150,000 to fund the work completed on the Challenges Report – Inclusion

Index. This initiative had been budgeted for 2018, but was delayed as further

consideration was required by the Equity and Indigenous Affairs Committee prior

to commencing the project.  Spending occurred in 2019;

 $118,000 to fund the expenses incurred related to the 2019 Bencher election;

 $38,000 pertaining to the balance of the $100,000 approved by Convocation for

2017 to fund the hiring of a fundraising professional to bring the Lawyers Feed

the Hungry to financial sustainability.  With a vacancy in the fundraising
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professional position in 2017, use of some of the funds was delayed until 2018 

and onwards, once the new employee was hired by the Law Society Foundation. 

 $38,000 to fund and pay for the first phase of the Law Society’s human resource

payroll information system; and

 $10,000 to fund grounds maintenance activities that took place in 2019.  The

funding was originally received as a grant from Canada Life as a result of the

development of the opera house and the negative impact it had on sun exposure

to Law Society grounds.

Management Discussion and Analysis 

The primary Management Discussion and Analysis can be found at the start of the 

Annual Financial Statements. In addition, supplementary unaudited Schedules of 

Revenues and Expenses for the General Fund, Compensation Fund and Errors & 

Omissions Fund comparing actual results to budget are included.  
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LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
2019 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Summary of Financial Performance 

The Law Society of Ontario’s (“Society”) lawyer and paralegal General Funds, which account for 
the Society’s program delivery and administrative activities, are reporting for the year combined 
operating expenses in excess of revenues of $836,000 (2018 - $118,000 expenses in excess of 
revenues).  To mitigate annual fee increases, the 2019 budget incorporated funding through the 
use of $5.1 million of the lawyer General Fund balance along with $1.2 million in funding from 
surplus investment income in the Errors & Omissions Insurance Fund.  Similarly, the 2019 budget 
planned for utilization of $2.4 million of the paralegal General Fund balance to fund operations 
associated with the paralegal General Fund. The use of available fund balances to fund 
operations is a not-for-profit budgeting best practice.  As a result of the better than anticipated 
financial performance in 2019, the Society did not utilize the lawyer General Fund balance and 
used less of the paralegal General Fund balance than planned to fund operations.   

The Society’s restricted funds are reporting combined excess of revenues over expenses of $8.4 
million in 2019 (2018 - $7.5 million excess of revenues over expenses) with the lawyer 
Compensation Fund experiencing revenues in excess of expenses of $10.1 million (2018 - $8.5 
million revenues in excess of expenses). In response to unusually high claims against the lawyer 
Compensation Fund prior to 2017, the Society implemented a three year plan from 2018 to 2020 
to refinance the Fund and restore its financial stability.  As part of this plan, the lawyer 
Compensation Fund component of the annual fee was increased for this three year period to raise 
an additional $5 million in each year. As at the end of 2019, this plan, coupled with grant claims 
returning to a more normal level, has allowed the fund balance to increase to $21.8 million.   

Statement of Revenues and Expenses and Change in Fund Balances 

Revenues 

Annual Fees 
Total annual fee revenues have increased to $99.3 million (2018 - $95.8 million) driven by an 
increase in the total annual fee per lawyer and paralegal of $18 and $15, respectively. In addition, 
the number of licensees billed increased although the rate of increase in the number of full-fee-
paying-equivalent paralegal licensees has slowed over recent years. Although there was an 
overall increase in annual fee revenues, the Restricted Funds experienced a planned decrease 
in revenues as the lawyer Compensation Fund component of the annual fee decreased by $74 
or 25%. 

Insurance Premiums and Levies 
The Errors & Omissions Insurance Fund (“E&O Fund”) accounts for insurance related 
transactions between LAWPRO, the Society and insured lawyers. The E&O Fund collects 
premiums and levies from lawyers and remits these amounts to LAWPRO.  Insurance premiums 
and levies increased slightly to $102.8 million in 2019 (2018 - $102.7 million). The professional 
liability insurance program and the base premium for professional liability insurance coverage for 
Ontario lawyers remained unchanged at $2,950 in 2019. 
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Professional Development & Competence (“PD&C”) 
PD&C revenue comprises licensing process and continuing professional development (“CPD”) 
fees. Total PD&C revenue has increased this year to $23.1 million (2018 - $22.0 million).    

Licensing Process revenue from lawyer ($12.6 million) and paralegal candidates ($2.3 million) 
have increased by $854,000 from 2018.  The underlying licensing fees charged to candidates did 
not change but there was an increase in the number of exams written and increased requests for 
reinstatement into the licensing process in 2019 that drove the overall increase in revenue.  

CPD revenue has increased to $8.2 million (2018 - $7.9 million). There was an increase in the 
number of CPD programs offered in 2019 and a shift toward online learning with more registrants 
viewing programs via live webcast or on demand. 

Investment Income and Change in Fair Value of Investments
Investment related income was significantly higher in 2019 at $4.9 million (2018 - $688,000 
loss).Increases in the market value of Canadian equities, resulted in an unrealized gain of $2.6 
million for the year (2018 - $3.3 million loss) while lower interest rates on bonds resulted in a 
reduction in interest income to $2.3 million (2018 - $2.6 million). 

Other Revenue 
Other revenue of $8.4 million (2018 - $9 million) primarily comprises income from Ontario Reports 
royalties, administrative fees, regulatory compliance ordered cost recoveries, and catering sales. 
The decrease from 2018 is largely due to decreases in ordered costs which are difficult to predict. 

Expenses 

Professional Regulation, Tribunals and Compliance 
Total regulatory expenses increased to $30.5 million (2018 - $29.0 million) but continue to be less 
than budget due to staff vacancies. The reorganization of the Division was predominantly 
completed in 2018 and the majority of vacancies were filled throughout 2019.  

Professional Development and Competence 
Total PD&C expenses have increased to $30.8 million (2018 - $29.4 million). 

Enhancements to the practice management helpline, as approved by Convocation and planned 
for in the budget, were implemented in 2019 and have increased PD&C expenses.  

Exam supports for candidates (proctors, invigilation, and accommodation costs) and venue 
rentals costs have increased in 2019. There was an increase in the number of candidates 
writing exams and an increase in the number requiring accommodation. The rise in costs is 
offset by increased revenues in 2019.  

Corporate Services 
Corporate services expenses, primarily comprising the Client Service Centre, Information 
Technology, Facilities, Finance and Human Resources, were $33.9 million (2018 – $27.8 million). 
This increase was primarily related to a legal matter resulting in a large settlement for which the 
Society is pursuing recovery through our insurer.  
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Convocation, Policy and Outreach 
Convocation, policy and outreach expenses, primarily related to Policy, External Relations & 
Communications and bencher related expenses, decreased to $8.8 million (2018 – $9.4 million). 
The change is attributable to a decrease in bencher related expenses and some staffing 
vacancies.  

Changes in Fund Balances 

General Fund 
The balance of the lawyer General Fund balance increased to $26.1 million with revenues in 
excess of expenses for the year of $124,000 contributing to the increase. Convocation’s fund 
balance management policy establishes minimum and maximum benchmarks of two months and 
three months operating expenses be maintained in the lawyer General Fund balance or between 
$19 million and $28 million.  The Society is in compliance with the fund balance policy.  

Expenses in excess of revenues for the year of $960,000 led to a decrease in the paralegal 
General Fund balance to $1.8 million.  

Restricted Funds 
In 2019, revenues in excess of expenses for the year in the lawyer Compensation Fund amounted 
to $10.1 million increasing the fund balance for lawyers to $21.8 million. The Society’s fund 
balance management policy is to maintain the fund balance at an amount sufficient to provide for 
a minimum of one 99.5th percentile aggregate claim scenario (a one-in-two-hundred-year event).  
The latest actuarial report estimates this balance at $20.5 million. As in 2018 and 2019, the 2020 
budget includes $5 million to continue restoring the fund balance based on the three year plan 
approved by Convocation. 

In 2019, the Compensation Fund balance for paralegals increased slightly to $948,000 after 
revenues in excess of expenses for the year of $297,000.  

The E&O Fund balance remained comparable at $54.4 million (2018 - $54.6 million) after 
recognizing investment income during the year and the transfer of $1.2 million in cumulative 
excess investment income to the General Fund as budgeted. 

Balance Sheet 

Investment in Subsidiaries 
Investment in subsidiaries comprises the Society’s investments in LAWPRO and LibraryCo 
recorded at cost.  The LAWPRO investment is made up of two parts: the cost of the acquired 
share capital of $5 million plus contributed capital of $30.6 million. The Society owns all the 
common shares of LibraryCo at a cost of $100.

Portfolio Investments 
Portfolio investments are shown at fair value of $63.8 million (2018 – $61.6 million). Portfolio 
investments have increased because of unrealized gains totalling $2.6 million. Investments 
comprise Canadian equities (30%) and Canadian fixed income investments (70%).   

Intangible Assets 
An impairment in the valuation of the licensee database resulted in a write-down of $1.4 million. 
This impairment write-down decreased intangible assets from $4.3 million to $3.1 million.   
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Provision for Unpaid Grants 
The Compensation Fund liability for unpaid grants has decreased to $17.4 million (2018 – $24.7 
million).  The provision for unpaid grants in the Compensation Fund represents the estimate for 
unpaid claims against the Compensation Fund, supplemented by the costs for processing these 
claims. The decrease in this liability in the current year is due to a combination of lower claim 
volumes and the settlement of claims attributable to a few large defalcations.   

Conclusion 

The Society is in a financially sound position, with notable improvement in the fund balance of the 
Compensation Fund, and is well placed for the future.  
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
PwC Tower, 18 York Street, Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 0B2 
T: +1 416 863 1133, F: +1 416 365 8215 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Members of the Law Society of Ontario 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Law Society of Ontario (the Law Society) as at December 31, 2019 and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards 
for not-for-profit organizations. 

What we have audited 
The Law Society’s financial statements comprise: 

 the balance sheet as at December 31, 2019;

 the statement of revenues and expenses and change in fund balances for the year then ended;

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Law Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information, 
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, included in the annual report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Law Society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Law Society or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Law Society’s financial reporting 
process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Law Society’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Law Society’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Law Society to
cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario 
May @@, 2020
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LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
Balance Sheet 
Stated in thousands of dollars
As at December 31 2019 2018

Assets
Current Assets
Cash (note 10) 34,863     44,652  
Short-term investments 19,709     13,921  
Accounts receivable (notes 4, 5 and 9) 11,967     12,416  
Prepaid expenses 3,134       2,398  
Total current assets 69,673     73,387  

Investment in subsidiaries (note 4) 35,642     35,642  
Portfolio investments (note 6) 63,821     61,580  
Loan receivable (note 7) 1,162       878  
Capital assets (note 8) 8,651       9,027  
Intangible assets (note 8) 3,127       4,259  
Total Assets 182,076   184,773  

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (notes 5 and 9) 13,906     15,160  
Deferred revenue 16,031     16,953  
Due to LAWPRO (note 4) 7,354       8,483  
Total current liabilities 37,291     40,596  

Provision for unpaid grants/claims 17,439     24,749  
Unclaimed trust funds (note 10) 5,587       5,390  
Lease obligations 648          522  
Total Liabilities 60,965     71,257  
Other trust funds (note 11), Commitments (note 16) and Contingencies (note 17)

Fund Balances
General funds
Lawyers 26,106     25,138  
Paralegals 1,834       3,074  
Restricted funds (note 19)
Compensation - lawyers 21,818     11,762  
Compensation - paralegals 948          651  
Errors and omissions insurance 54,445     54,572  
Capital allocation 2,927       4,144  
Invested in capital and intangible assets 11,778     13,286  
County libraries 189          131  
Other 1,066       758  
Total Fund Balances 121,111   113,516  
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 182,076   184,773  
Subsequent events (note 18)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

On behalf of Convocation
Treasurer Chair, Audit & Finance Committee
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Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

General Fund General Fund Restricted Funds
Lawyer Paralegal (note 19) Total

Revenues
Annual fees 70,927   65,252  6,073 5,778 22,330   24,822  99,330   95,852  

Insurance premiums and levies -            -  -            -  102,772 102,657 102,772 102,657 
Professional development and 
competence 19,876   18,942  3,245 3,073 -            -  23,121   22,015  
Investment income 803       1,113 96         141  1,447 1,310 2,346 2,564 

Change in fair value of investments 1,002 (761)  127       (96)  1,472 (2,395)  2,601 (3,252)  
Other (note 12) 7,090 7,962 1,239 1,134 89         (74)  8,418 9,022 
Total revenues 99,698   92,508  10,780   10,030  128,110 126,320 238,588 228,858 

Expenses
Professional regulation, tribunals 
and compliance 27,046   25,702  3,433 3,258 -            -  30,479   28,960  
Professional development and 
competence 27,482   26,276  3,314 3,130 -            -  30,796   29,406  
Corporate services (note 13) 30,335   24,265  3,531 3,538 -            -  33,866   27,803  
Convocation, policy and outreach 
(note 13) 7,934 8,486 861       932  -            -  8,795 9,418 
Services to members and public 6,777 6,494 601       575  -            - 7,378 7,069 
Restricted (note 19) -            -  -            -  119,679 118,777 119,679 118,777 
Total expenses 99,574   91,223  11,740   11,433  119,679 118,777 230,993 221,433 
Excess of revenues over expenses
(expenses over revenues) 124       1,285 (960) (1,403) 8,431 7,543 7,595 7,425 

Fund balances, beginning of year 25,138   23,239  3,074 4,477 85,304   78,375  113,516 106,091 
Interfund transfers (notes 2 and 
14) 844       614  (280) - (564) (614) -            -  

Fund balances, end of year 26,106   25,138  1,834 3,074 93,171   85,304  121,111 113,516 

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
Statement of Revenues and Expenses and Change in Fund Balances

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
Statement of Cash Flows
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 2018

Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities
Operating
Excess of revenues over expenses 7,595           7,425  
Items not affecting cash:

Amortization of capital assets 2,003           1,970  
Amortization of intangible assets 374              387  
Loss on disposal of capital and intangible assets 1,434           239  
Lease obligations 126              321  

11,532         10,342  

Net change in non-cash operating items:
Accounts receivable 449              (1,596)  
Prepaid expenses (736)             131  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,254)          2,059  
Provision for unpaid grants/claims (7,310)          (2,874)  
Due (to)/from LAWPRO (1,129)          1,506  
Deferred revenue (922)             (729)  
Fund contribution - unclaimed trusts 197              353  

Cash from operating activities 827              9,192  

Investing
Portfolio investments - net (2,241)          2,039  
Loan receivable (284)             (878)  
Short-term investments - net (5,788)          27,949  
Capital asset and intangible asset additions (2,303)          (5,044)  

Cash from (used in) investing activities (10,616)        24,066  

Net inflow (outflow) of cash, during the year (9,789)          33,258  

Cash, beginning of year 44,652         11,394  

Cash, end of year 34,863         44,652  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Law Society of Ontario  Annual Financial Statements 2019      2 
 

 

 

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO  
Notes to Financial Statements, December 31, 2019 
Stated in whole dollars except where indicated 

 
1. Background 
 
The Law Society of Ontario (“Society”) was founded in 1797 and incorporated in 1822 with the 
enactment of the Law Society Act.  
 
The Law Society Act, section 4.1, states that it is a function of the Society to ensure that: 

 all persons who practise law in Ontario or provide legal services in Ontario meet standards of 
learning, professional competence and professional conduct that are appropriate for the legal 
services they provide; and  

 the standards of learning, professional competence and professional conduct for the provision of 
a particular legal service in a particular area of law apply equally to persons who practise law in 
Ontario and persons who provide legal services in Ontario.  

 
In carrying out its functions, duties and powers, the Society, pursuant to section 4.2 of the Law Society 
Act, shall have regard to the following principles:  
 

 the Society has a duty to maintain and advance the cause of justice and the rule of law;  

 the Society has a duty to act so as to facilitate access to justice for the people of Ontario; 

 the Society has a duty to protect the public interest;  

 the Society has a duty to act in a timely, open and efficient manner; 

 standards of learning, professional competence and professional conduct for licensees and 
restrictions on who may provide particular legal services should be proportionate to the 
significance of the regulatory objectives sought to be realized.  

 
The governing body of the Society, which is known as Convocation, carries out this mandate. 
Convocation comprises benchers and the Treasurer who presides over Convocation.  
 
At December 31, 2019, lawyers and paralegals entitled to provide legal services in Ontario numbered 
approximately 55,000 and 9,000 respectively.  The primary sources of revenues are licensee annual 
fees and insurance premiums and levies, set by Convocation, based on the financial requirements of 
the Society.  
 
The Society is not subject to federal or provincial income taxes. 
 
2. Nature of Financial Statements 
 
These financial statements present the financial position and operations of the Society and include 
the General Funds and a number of special purpose funds restricted by the Law Society Act or 
Convocation. 
 
Subsidiaries and Related Entity 
The Society has two wholly-owned subsidiaries: Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company 
(“LAWPRO”), and LibraryCo Inc. (“LibraryCo”) and a related entity, the Law Society Foundation.  The 
audited annual financial statements for these three entities are available separately. 
 
General Funds 
The General Fund accounts for the Society’s program delivery and administrative activities related to 
the regulation and licensing of lawyers and paralegals.  This fund reports unrestricted resources.  At 
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December 31, 2019, the lawyer fund balance was $26,106,000 (2018 – $25,138,000).  The paralegal 
fund balance was $1,834,000 (2018 – $3,074,000). 
 
The Society’s policy is to maintain the General Fund balance at no less than two and no more than 
three months of General Fund budgeted expenses. 
 
If the General Fund balance exceeds three months of budgeted General Fund expenses, Convocation 
shall utilize the excess for one or more of the following: 

 mitigate the General Fund levy for the next fiscal year; 

 transfer the excess to another Society fund if the fund balance is below its stated policy 
benchmark. 

 
If the General Fund balance is less than two months of budgeted General Fund expenses, 
Convocation shall budget for an annual surplus to restore the fund balance to its minimum policy 
objective. The minimum policy benchmark should be restored within three fiscal periods. 
 
If the General Fund balance is more than two months of budgeted General Fund expenses and less 
than three months of budgeted General Fund expenses, Convocation may appropriate funds from the 
General Fund Balance for one or more of the following: 

 mitigate the General Fund levy for the next fiscal year; 

 transfer the excess to another Society fund if the fund balance is below its stated policy 
benchmark. 

 
Restricted Funds 
 
Compensation Fund 
The Society maintains the Compensation Fund pursuant to section 51 of the Law Society Act to relieve 
or mitigate loss sustained by any person in consequence of dishonesty on the part of a licensee, in 
connection with the licensee’s professional business or in connection with any trust of which the 
licensee was a trustee.  
  
Pursuant to the Law Society Act, the Compensation Fund is supported by licensee annual fees, 
investment income and recoveries. The Compensation Fund expenses are only for payment of grants, 
and direct program delivery and administration costs.  There are separate fund balances for lawyer 
licensees and paralegal licensees.  
 
The Society’s policy is to maintain the Lawyer Compensation Fund balance at an amount sufficient to 
provide for a minimum of one 99.5th percentile aggregate claim scenario (one-in-two-hundred-year 
event) and a maximum of four 99th percentile aggregate claim scenarios (one-in-one-hundred year 
event). The estimated amount of aggregate claims is to be actuarially reviewed at least every three 
years. 
 
If the Lawyer Compensation Fund balance exceeds four one-in-one-hundred-year events, 
Convocation shall utilize some or all of the excess for the following: 

 mitigation of the Lawyer Compensation Fund levy for the next fiscal year; or 

 annual mitigation of the Lawyer Compensation Fund levy shall continue such that within the next 
three fiscal years, the maximum benchmark shall be achieved. 

 
If the Lawyer Compensation Fund balance is less than a one one-in-two-hundred-year event, 
Convocation shall budget for an annual surplus to restore the fund balance to its minimum policy 
objective. The minimum policy benchmark should be restored within three fiscal periods.  
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If the Lawyer Compensation Fund balance is more than a one one-in-two-hundred-year event and 
less than four one-in-one-hundred-year events, Convocation may: 

 mitigate the Lawyer Compensation Fund levy for the next fiscal year or; 

 budget for a surplus sufficient to increase the fund balance to its maximum policy objective of four 
one-in-one-hundred-year events; or 

 leave the fund balance at its current balance for the upcoming fiscal year. 
 
At December 31, 2019, the lawyer share of the fund balance was $21,818,000 (2018 – $11,762,000) 
and the paralegal share of the fund balance was $948,000 (2018 – $651,000). 
 
Errors and Omissions Insurance Fund 
The Errors and Omissions Insurance Fund (“E&O Fund”) accounts for insurance-related transactions 
between LAWPRO, the Society and insured lawyers. The E&O Fund collects premiums and levies 
from lawyers, reported as revenues, and remits these amounts to LAWPRO, reported as expenses.   
 
Pursuant to section 61 of the Law Society Act, the Society arranges mandatory professional liability 
insurance for practising lawyers with LAWPRO, and through the E&O Fund, levies the insured lawyers. 
Each year, the premium for the insurance program is established through a process whereby 
LAWPRO provides an offer for review and acceptance by Convocation.  The offer provides details on 
the components of the insurance program, including anticipated base premiums, claims history levies, 
transaction-based levies and amounts to be drawn from the E&O Fund balance.   
 
There is a retrospective premium provision under the insurance policy between the Society and 
LAWPRO.  To the extent underwriting results vary from the approved program, additional premiums 
are charged. Under these provisions, LAWPRO made no retrospective premium assessment in 2019 
and 2018.  
 
In 2019, $1,200,000 (2018 – $600,000) was transferred from the E&O Fund to the lawyer General 
Fund as provided in the 2019 budget representing accumulated investment income, surplus to the 
needs of the E&O Fund. 
 
At December 31, 2019, the E&O Fund balance was $54,445,000 (2018 – $54,572,000). The Fund 
balance is comprised of: 
 

($000s)        2019         2018 

Investment in LAWPRO shares 5,000 5,000 
Contributed capital 30,642 30,642 
Reinsurance backstop 15,000 15,000 
Other 3,803 3,930 

Total fund balance 54,445 54,572 

 
Capital Allocation Fund 
The Capital Allocation Fund is maintained to provide a source of funds for the acquisition and 
maintenance of the Society’s capital and intangible assets, which comprise buildings and major 
equipment including computers and software. Amounts of assets capitalized, according to the 
Society’s capital asset policy, are transferred to the Invested in Capital and Intangible Assets Fund. 
Expenditures not capitalized are expended in the Capital Allocation Fund.  At December 31, 2019, the 
balance was $2,927,000 (2018 – $4,144,000).  
 
Invested in Capital and Intangible Assets Fund 
The Invested in Capital and Intangible Assets Fund records transactions related to the Society’s capital 
assets and intangible assets, specifically acquisitions, amortization and disposals. At December 31, 
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2019, the balance was $11,778,000 (2018 – $13,286,000), representing the net book value of the 
Society’s capital and intangible assets.  
 
County Libraries Fund 
The County Libraries Fund records transactions related to the Society’s support of county law libraries. 
As approved by Convocation, the fund accumulates funds for county library purposes, which are 
remitted to LibraryCo. The fund balance at December 31, 2019 was $189,000 (2018 – $131,000). 
 
Other Restricted Funds 
The Repayable Allowance Fund provides loans for tuition and living expenses to candidates in the 
lawyer licensing process.  At December 31, 2019, the balance was $76,000 (2018 – $47,000).  
 
The Special Projects Fund is maintained to ensure that financing is available for ongoing special 
projects.. The balance at December 31, 2019 was $934,000 (2018 – $567,000).  
 
The Parental Leave Assistance Fund accounts for the delivery of the Parental Leave Assistance 
Program (“PLAP”) and is funded by lawyers’ annual fees. PLAP provides financial assistance to 
lawyers in firms of five lawyers or fewer who have a net annual practice income of less than $50,000 
and who do not have access to any other parental leave financial benefits. Under PLAP, the Society 
provides a fixed sum of $750 a week to eligible applicants for up to 12 weeks to cover expenses 
associated with maintaining their practice during a maternity, parental or adoption leave.  At December 
31, 2019, the Fund balance was $56,000 (2018 – $144,000).   

 
3. Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Basis of presentation 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations set out in Part III of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada 
Handbook – Accounting. 
 
Financial instruments 
The Society’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value on the original date of 
the transaction and then subsequently measured as follows: 
 

Asset / Liability Measurement 
Cash Fair value 
Short-term investments Fair value 
Accounts receivable Amortized cost 
Portfolio investments Fair value 
Loan receivable Amortized cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost 
Unclaimed trust funds Amortized cost 

 
Investments in subsidiaries are reported at cost. 
 
The fair value of portfolio investments is determined by reference to transactional net asset values for 
the fixed income and Canadian equity pooled funds.  Transaction costs are expensed as incurred. The 
carrying value of accounts receivable, loan receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
unclaimed trust funds approximate fair value due to their nature or capacity for prompt liquidation. 
There has been no change in risk exposures from the previous period.  
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Interest rate risk  
The risk that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates 
is managed through compliance with the Society’s investment policy. The normal duration range for 
the bond portfolio administered under the policy is between 1 and 5 years.  The Society has no interest-
bearing liabilities.    
 
Fluctuations in interest rates do not have a significant effect on cash and short-term investments of 
the Society. 
 
Market risk  
The risk that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market prices is 
managed through compliance with the Society’s investment policy, which requires a diversified 
portfolio of government bonds, corporate bonds and Canadian equities meeting specified quality 
requirements. 
 
Credit risk  
Credit risk is the possibility that other parties may default on their financial obligations.  At year-end, 
the maximum exposure of the Society to credit risk in cash and short and long-term fixed income 
investments was $99,091,000 (2018 – $100,697,000). In compliance with the Society’s investment 
policy, fixed income investments are in the financial obligations of governments, major financial 
institutions and commercial paper with investment grade ratings. 
 
At year-end, the maximum exposure of the Society to credit risk in accounts receivable was 
$11,967,000 (2018 – $12,416,000).  This credit risk is minimized by the credit quality and a diverse 
debtor base.  The Society maintains an allowance for potential credit losses.   
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society will not be able to fund its obligations as they come due, 
including being unable to liquidate assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price.  The Society 
monitors forecasts of cash flows from operations and investments and holds investments that can 
readily be converted into cash.  Investment income is not a primary source of revenue for the Society 
and all underlying long-term securities are publicly listed. 
 
The Society has not entered into any derivative transactions.  In addition, the Society’s contractual 
arrangements do not have any embedded features.  
 
Cash and short-term investments  
Cash (bank balances) and short-term investments (less than one year) are amounts on deposit and 
invested in short-term investment vehicles according to the Society’s investment policy.  
 
Portfolio investments  
Portfolio investments are recorded at fair value.  The Society manages financial risk associated with 
portfolio investments in accordance with its investment policy.  The primary objective of the investment 
policy is to preserve and enhance the real capital base.  The secondary objective is to generate 
investment returns to assist the Society in funding its programs.  Convocation monitors compliance 
with the investment policy and regularly reviews the policy. 
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Capital assets  
Capital assets are presented at cost net of accumulated amortization. Amortization is charged to 
expenses on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:  

 
Buildings    30 years  
Building and leasehold improvements      Lesser of 10 years or term of lease 
Furniture, equipment and computer hardware  3 to 5 years 
    

 
Intangible assets  
Intangible assets comprising computer applications and software are presented at cost net of 
accumulated amortization.  Amortization is charged to expenses on a straight-line basis over three 
years.  
 
Revenue recognition  
Annual licensee fees, insurance premiums and levies are set annually by Convocation and are 
recognized in the year to which they relate if the amount can be reasonably estimated and collection 
is reasonably assured. Accordingly, fees for the next fiscal year received prior to December 31 have 
been deferred and are recognized as revenue in the next year.   
 
Insurance premiums related to the unexpired term of coverage at the balance sheet date are reported 
as deferred revenue.   
 
Professional development and competence revenues are recognized in the year to which they relate 
if the amount can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. Fees for the next 
fiscal year received prior to December 31 have been deferred and are recognized as revenue in the 
next year.  
 
Other revenues and realized investment income/losses are recognized when receivable if the amount 
can be reasonably estimated. Unrealized investment gains/losses are recognized with changes in the 
fair value of financial instruments. 
 
Fees, insurance premiums and other revenues receivable are recorded as accounts receivable on the 
balance sheet, net of any required provision for doubtful amounts.   
 
Provision for unpaid grants 
Pursuant to section 51(5) of the Law Society Act, the payment of grants from the Compensation Fund 
is at the discretion of Convocation.  Grants paid from the lawyer share of the Compensation Fund are 
subject to a limit per claimant of $150,000 for claims incurred before September 22, 2016 and 
$500,000 thereafter.  Grants paid from the paralegal share of the Compensation Fund are subject to 
a $10,000 limit per claimant.  The Compensation Fund expense represents a provision for unpaid 
grants and administrative expenses. 
 
Provisions for unpaid grants are recorded as liabilities on the balance sheet. The measurement of the 
ultimate settlement costs of claims made to date that underlies the provision for unpaid grants involves 
estimates and measurement uncertainty.  Ultimate costs incurred could vary from current estimates.  
Although it is not possible to measure the degree of variability inherent in such estimates, management 
believes that the methods of estimation that have been used will produce reasonable results given the 
current information. These provisions represent an estimate of the present value of grants to be paid 
for claims and the associated administrative costs net of recoveries. Grant liabilities are carried on a 
discounted basis using the yield of the underlying assets backing the grant liabilities with a provision 
for adverse deviation. The discount rate is 1.95% (2018 – 2.4%). 
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Collections  
The Society owns a collection of legal research and reference material as well as a collection of 
portraits and sculptures. The cost of additions to the collections is expensed as incurred. No value is 
recorded in these financial statements for donated items. There have not been any significant changes 
to the collections in the current year. 
 
Volunteer services  
Convocation, consisting of the Treasurer and benchers, governs the Society.  Benchers may be 
elected by lawyers, paralegals, appointed by the provincial government, or achieve ex-officio or 
emeritus status based on past service.  
  
Elected and ex-officio benchers are only eligible for remuneration after contributing 26 days of 
voluntary time. The work of the Society is also dependent on other voluntary services by lawyers and 
paralegals. No value has been included in these financial statements for volunteer services.  
 
Measurement uncertainty 
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for 
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.  
 
The valuation of certain liabilities, unpaid grants and unpaid claims anticipates the combined outcomes 
of events that are yet to occur. There is uncertainty inherent in any such estimation and therefore a 
limitation upon the accuracy of these valuations. Future loss emergence may deviate from these 
estimates.  
 
4. Investment in Subsidiaries 

 
Investment in the Society’s subsidiaries is recorded at cost: 
 

    2019         2018 

LAWPRO 35,642,000 35,642,000 
LibraryCo 100 100 

Total investment in subsidiaries 35,642,100 35,642,100 

 
 
LAWPRO  
The Society provides mandatory professional liability insurance to lawyers through LAWPRO, a 
provincially licensed insurer and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Society.   
 
The professional liability insurance program generally requires practising lawyers to pay premiums 
and levies to the E&O Fund that contribute toward the premium paid by the Society to fund the 
anticipated costs of professional liability claims made in each annual policy period. 
 
Paralegals obtain this form of coverage through independent insurance companies.  In addition to 
providing mandatory lawyers professional liability insurance, LAWPRO also sells optional excess 
lawyers professional liability and title insurance. 
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The investment in LAWPRO comprises:  
 

($000s)   2019         2018 

30,000 common shares of par value of $100 
each 
 

3,000 3,000 

20,000 6% non-cumulative, redeemable, non-
voting preferred shares of par value of $100 
each 

2,000 2,000 

Investment in LAWPRO shares 5,000 5,000 

Contributed capital 30,642 30,642 

Total investment 35,642 35,642 

 
Summarized balance sheet of LAWPRO: 
 

($000s)       2019      2018 

Total assets 779,801 733,903 

   

Total liabilities 508,500 480,441 

Total shareholders equity  271,301 253,462 

Total liabilities and shareholders equity 779,801 733,903 

 
 
Summarized statement of income of LAWPRO for the year ended December 31: 
 

($000s) 2019 2018 

Revenue 132,152 129,112 

Expenses 125,821 106,575 

Income before taxes 6,331 22,537 

Income tax expense 1,483 5,685 

Net income  4,848 16,852 

Other comprehensive income (loss) net of tax 12,991 (17,068) 

Comprehensive income (loss) 17,839 (216) 

  
Summarized statement of cash flows of LAWPRO for the year ended December 31: 
 

($000s) 2019       2018 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 11,359 10,323 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (3,112) (20,287) 

Net cash outflow from financing activities (411) - 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 10,281 20,245 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 18,117 10,281 

 
LAWPRO administers the operations of the E&O Fund on behalf of the Society at no charge, under 
an administrative services agreement.  LAWPRO billed the Society $102,772,000 (2018 – 
$102,657,000) for premiums during the year. LAWPRO contributed $523,000 primarily to a wellness 
program provided by the Society to its licensees (2018 – $520,000).  These transactions are entered 
in the ordinary course of business and are measured at fair value. Included in the Society’s financial 
statements are amounts due to LAWPRO of $7,354,000 (2018 – $8,483,000). The amounts due to 
LAWPRO are non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment. 
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LibraryCo 
LibraryCo, a wholly-owned, not-for-profit subsidiary of the Society, was established to develop policies, 
procedures, guidelines and standards for the delivery of county law library services and legal 
information across Ontario and to administer funding on behalf of the Society.  LibraryCo was 
incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) in 2001.  The Society holds all of the 100 
common shares.  Of the 100 special shares, 25 are held by the Toronto Lawyers Association (“TLA”) 
and 75 are held by the Federation of Ontario Law Associations (“FOLA”).  The Society may appoint 
up to four directors, FOLA may appoint up to three directors and TLA may appoint one director.   
 
The Society levies and collects funds for county and district law library purposes and transfers these 
funds to LibraryCo.  Convocation internally restricts these funds for use by county and district law 
libraries to carry out their annual operations and any special projects approved by Convocation.  
 
Summarized balance sheet of LibraryCo: 
 

($000s)       2019           2018 

Total assets 1,067 734 

   
Total liabilities  59 25 
Total share capital and fund balances 1,008 709 

Total liabilities, share capital and fund balances 1,067 734 

 
 
Summarized statement of income of LibraryCo for the year ended December 31: 
 

($000s)       2019           2018 

Total revenue 8,076 7,913 
Total expenses 7,777 7,976 

Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses 
over revenues)  

299 (63) 

 
Summarized statement of cash flows of LibraryCo for the year ended December 31: 
 

($000s)      2019           2018 

Net cash inflow 333 357 
Cash, beginning of year 676 319 

Cash, end of year 1,009 676 

 
The Society provided LibraryCo with a grant of $8,100,000 (2018 – $7,900,000) during the year. The 
Society provides administrative services to LibraryCo as well as certain other services and 
publications. The total amount billed by the Society for 2019 was $32,000 (2018 – $342,000). These 
transactions are entered in the ordinary course of business and are measured at fair value.  Included 
in accounts receivables are amounts due from LibraryCo of $6,000 (2018 – $9,000).   
 
In late 2019, a new structure that governs the delivery of library services and legal information to 
Ontario licensees was approved by the Society, FOLA and the TLA with LibraryCo Inc. to be renamed 
LIRN Inc. (Legal Information and Resource Network).  LIRN Inc. will have an independent skills-based 
board of directors who will focus on the modernization of the delivery of legal information and library 
services. 
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5. Related Entity 
 
The Law Society Foundation (“LSF”) is regarded as a related entity, although the Society does not 
have an equity interest in the LSF.   
 
The LSF, a registered charity, was incorporated by Letters Patent in 1962. The objectives of the LSF 
are to foster, encourage and promote legal education in Ontario, provide financial assistance to 
licensing process candidates in Ontario, restore and preserve land and buildings of historical 
significance to Canada’s legal heritage, receive gifts of muniments and legal memorabilia of interest 
and significance to Canada’s legal heritage, maintain a collection of gifts of books and other written 
material for use by educational institutions in Canada, receive donations and maintain funds for the 
relief of poverty by providing meals to persons in need.  
 
The Society provides facilities and certain administration services at no cost to the LSF. Trustees of 
the LSF are elected by the members of the LSF. Included in the Society’s accounts receivable are 
amounts due from the LSF of $9,000 (2018 – due to of $20,000). 
 
6. Portfolio Investments  

 
($000s)       2019        2018 

Debt securities 44,519 42,124 
Canadian equities 19,302 19,456 

Total portfolio investments 63,821 61,580 

 
The debt securities have effective interest rates and maturity dates as follows: 

 
 2019 2018 

Effective interest rates (%) 1.7 – 3.7 2.0 – 4.0 
Maturity dates (years) 1 – 8 1 – 9 

 
7. Loan Receivable 
 
Canadian Legal Information Institute (“CanLII”) is a not-for-profit organization established by the 
Federation of Law Societies to provide access to judicial decisions and legislative documents on the 
internet. Lexum Informatique Juridique Inc. (“Lexum”) is a software company that operates online 
information delivery products, primarily for CanLII. CanLII purchased all the shares of Lexum in 2018. 
The Society contributed $878,000 to a subordinated syndicated loan with all the other Canadian law 
societies as part of the funding of this purchase in 2018. This loan has an annual interest rate of 4.74%, 
compounded semi-annually and will mature in full five years from the date of closing. 
 
In 2019, the Society made an annual repayable capital payment of $280,000 as the first of three annual 
balance of sale payments to the vendors of Lexum. As set out in Note 16, Commitments, this amount 
will be repeated in 2020 and 2021. 
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8. Capital Assets and Intangible Assets 

 
Capital Assets ($000s)   2019  2018 

 Cost Accumulated 
amortization 

Net  Net 

Land and buildings 25,395 24,376 1,019  1,569 

Building and leasehold 
improvements 29,708 22,693 7,015 

 

7,127 
 
Furniture, equipment and 
computer hardware 3,900 3,283 617 

 

331 

Total capital assets 59,003 50,352 8,651  9,027 

 
 

Intangible Assets ($000s)   2019  2018 

 Cost Accumulated 
amortization 

Net  Net 

      
Computer applications and 
software 9,510 6,383 3,127 

 
4,259 

Total intangible assets 9,510 6,383 3,127  4,259 

 
 
9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities and Accounts Receivable 
 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $642,000 in government remittances, primarily 
sales taxes (2018 – $502,000). 
 
The accounts receivable balance comprises: 
 

($000s) 2019 2018 

Accounts receivable 33,014 31,221 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 21,047 18,805 

Accounts receivable – net 11,967 12,416 

 
The allowance for doubtful accounts mainly relates to annual fees, regulatory compliance ordered 
costs and licensing process fees. 
 
10. Unclaimed Trust Funds  

 
Section 59.6 of the Law Society Act permits a licensee who has held money in trust for, or on account 
of, a person for a period of at least two years, to apply in accordance with the by-laws for permission 
to pay the money to the Society.  Money paid to the Society is held in trust in perpetuity for the purpose 
of satisfying the claims of the persons who are entitled to the capital amount. Subject to certain 
provisions in the Law Society Act enabling the Society to recover its expenses associated with 
maintaining these funds, net income from the money held in trust shall be paid to the Law Foundation 
of Ontario. Unclaimed money held in trust amounts to $5,587,000 (2018 – $5,390,000). 
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11. Other Trust Funds  
 
The Society administers client funds for licensees under voluntary or court-ordered trusteeships. 
These funds and matching liabilities are not reflected on the Balance Sheet. Money paid to the Society 
is held in trust until it is repaid to the clients or transferred to the Unclaimed Trust Funds. At December 
31, 2019, total funds held in trust amount to $4,132,000 (2018 – $4,058,000).  
 
12. Other Revenues 

 
Other Revenues primarily comprise income from Ontario Reports royalties, administrative 
fees,regulatory compliance ordered cost recoveries and catering. 
 
13. Other Expenses  

 
Included in Corporate services expenses is a settlement of $6,363,000 arising from litigation against 
the Society for which the Society is seeking recovery from its insurers. No amount is recorded for this 
potential recovery. Included in Convocation, policy and outreach expenses are payments for the 
remuneration of elected, ex-officio and lay benchers during the year of $693,000 (2018 – $711,000). 
The total expense reimbursements of the elected, ex-officio and lay benchers during the year was 
$430,000 (2018 – $515,000). The Treasurer’s honorarium expense for the year was $203,000 (2018 
– $197,000).  
 
14. Interfund Transfers 
 
During the year, the following interfund transfers took place, which have been approved by 
Convocation: 

 $2,265,000 from the Capital Allocation Fund to the Invested in Capital and Intangible Assets Fund 
representing assets capitalized during the year in compliance with the Society’s accounting 
policies; 

 $1,200,000 from the E&O Fund to the lawyer General Fund as provided in the 2019 budget 
representing accumulated investment income, surplus to the needs of the E&O Fund; 

 $367,000 from the lawyer General Fund to the Special Projects Fund to fund the next bencher 
election, the facilities condition assessment and the upgrade of the human resources information 
system; 

 $131,000 from the General Fund to the Capital Allocation Fund capitalizing audio-visual equipment 
of a capital nature; and 

 $100,000 from the lawyer General Fund to the Repayable Allowance Fund, as provided in the 
2019 budget to fund the Repayable Allowance Program in the Licensing Process. 

 
15. Pension Plan  

The Society maintains a defined contribution plan for all eligible employees of the Society. Each 
member of the plan, other than designated employees, elects to contribute matching employee and 
employer contributions from 1% to 6% of annual earnings up to the maximum deduction allowed by 
the Canada Revenue Agency.  Designated employees, who hold executive positions, have 
contributions made to the plan by the Society equivalent to 12% of annual earnings up to the maximum 
deduction allowed by the Canada Revenue Agency. The Society’s pension expense in 2019 amounted 
to $2,846,000 (2018 – $2,734,000).  
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16. Commitments  

The Society is committed to monthly lease payments for basic and additional rent for property under 
leases having various terms up to February 2028. Aggregate minimum annual payments to the expiry 
of the leases are approximately as follows:  

  
2020 $ 2,220,000 
2021 $ 2,348,000 
2022 $ 2,464,000 
2023 $ 2,580,000 
2024 $ 2,697,000 
Thereafter $ 9,109,000 

Total $21,418,000 

 
In 2016, Convocation approved the Society’s support for the Law Commission of Ontario’s mandate 
for a third five-year period. The Society’s contribution will be $154,000 in 2020 and $157,000 in 2021.  
 
Pursuant to the loan arrangement described in Note 7, the Society is committed to pay $280,000 
annually for the 2020 and 2021 years to fund annual balance of sale payments to the vendors of 
Lexum.  
 
17. Contingent Liabilities 

A number of claims or potential claims are pending against the Society. It is not possible for the Society 
to predict with any certainty the outcomes of such claims or potential claims.  Management is of the 
opinion, based on the information presently available, that it is unlikely any liability, to the extent not 
covered by insurance or inclusion in the financial statements, would be material to the Society’s 
financial position. 
 
18. Subsequent Event 

Subsequent to year-end, the outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, specifically identified as 
“COVID-19”, has resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the 
spread of the virus.  On March 17, 2020, the Province of Ontario declared a state of emergency.  These 
measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods and 
social distancing, have caused material disruption to businesses globally resulting in an economic 
slowdown.  The COVID-19 outbreak may negatively impact the timing and/or amount of the Society’s 
future revenues; however the duration and overall impact is unknown at this time.  The COVID-19 
outbreak has led to expense reductions including those that are circumstantial to event cancellations 
and the shift from in-person to virtual meetings. The Society continues to explore other expense 
reduction strategies to further mitigate the potential decreases in revenues.  It is not possible to reliably 
estimate the length and severity of these developments and the impact on the financial results and 
condition of the Society in future periods. 
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19. Schedule of Restricted Funds

A schedule of Restricted Funds is set out below
Stated in thousands of dollars

2018

Errors and 
omissions 
insurance

Capital 
allocation

Invested in 
capital and 
intangible 

assets
County 
libraries

Other 
restricted Total Total

Fund balances, beginning of year 11,762         651              54,572           4,144             13,286           131 758 85,304            78,375            

Revenues

Annual fees 9,603           91 - 4,420             - 8,116             100 22,330            24,822            

Insurance premiums and levies - - 102,772         - - - - 102,772          102,657          

Investment income 877              111              459 - - - - 1,447              1,310              

Change in fair value of investments 724              131              617 - - - - 1,472              (2,395)             

Other 68 21 - - - - - 89 (74) 

Total revenues 11,272         354              103,848         4,420             - 8,116             100 128,110          126,320          

Total expenses 1,216           57 102,775         3,503             3,811             8,058             259 119,679          118,777          
Excess of revenues over expenses 
(expenses over revenues) 10,056         297              1,073             917 (3,811)            58 (159)               8,431              7,543              

Interfund transfers (note 14) - - (1,200)            (2,134)            2,303             - 467 (564) (614) 

Fund balances, end of year 21,818         948              54,445           2,927             11,778           189 1,066             93,171            85,304            

2019

Compensation
Funds

Lawyer       Paralegal
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SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 

UNAUDITED 

Audit & Finance Committee – Report to Convocation 
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Finance Department 2020-03-03

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO

Lawyers and Paralegals General Fund
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 Budget
Actual YTD Variance

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 77,000 77,477 (477)
2 Professional development and competence 23,121 21,805 1,316 
3 Investment income 899 775 124 
4 Change in fair value of investments 1,129 - 1,129 
5 Other 8,329 7,657 672 
6 Total revenues 110,478 107,714 2,764 

EXPENSES
7 Professional regulation, tribunals and compliance 30,479 34,394 3,915 
8 Professional development and competence 30,796 32,587 1,791 
9 Corporate services 33,866 28,282 (5,584)

10 Convocation, policy and outreach 8,795 13,658 4,863 
11 Services to members and public 7,378 7,505 127 
12 Total expenses 111,314 116,426 5,112 

13 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) (836) (8,712) 7,876 
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Finance Department 2020-03-03

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
General Fund - Lawyers
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses

Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 Budget 2018
Actual YTD Variance Actual

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 70,927 71,199 (272) 65,252 
2 Professional development and competence 19,876 18,705 1,171 18,942 
3 Investment income 803 688 115 1,113 
4 Change in fair value of investments 1,002 - 1,002 (761) 
5 Other 7,090 6,573 517 7,962 
6 Total revenues 99,698 97,165 2,533 92,508 

EXPENSES
7 Professional regulation, tribunals and compliance 27,046 30,521 3,475 25,702 
8 Professional development and competence 27,482 28,813 1,331 26,276 
9 Corporate services 30,335 24,869 (5,466) 24,265 

10 Convocation, policy and outreach 7,934 12,406 4,472 8,486 
11 Services to members and public 6,777 6,880 103 6,494 
12 Total expenses 99,574 103,489 3,915 91,223 

13 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) 124 (6,324) 6,448 1,285 
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Finance Department 2020-03-03

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
General Fund - Paralegals
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 Budget
Actual YTD Variance

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 6,073 6,278 (205)
2 Professional development and competence 3,245 3,100 145 
3 Investment income 96 87 9 
4 Change in fair value of investments 127 - 127 
5 Other 1,239 1,084 155 
6 Total revenues 10,780 10,549 231 

EXPENSES
7 Professional regulation, tribunals and compliance 3,433 3,873 440 
8 Professional development and competence 3,314 3,774 460 
9 Corporate services 3,531 3,413 (118)

10 Convocation, policy and outreach 861 1,252 391 
11 Services to members and public 601 625 24 
12 Total expenses 11,740 12,937 1,197 

13 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) (960) (2,388) 1,428 
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Finance Department 2020-03-03

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
Compensation Fund
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses

Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 Budget 2018
Actual YTD Variance Actual

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 9,694 9,724 (30) 12,490 
2 Investment income 988 975 13 866 
3 Change in fair value of investments 855 - 855 (1,407) 
4 Recoveries 89 350 (261) 77 
5 Total revenues 11,626 11,049 577 12,026 

EXPENSES
6 Provision for unpaid grants 551 9,962 9,411 2,735 
7 Administrative 722 1,087 365 880 
8 Total expenses 1,273 11,049 9,776 3,615 

9 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) 10,353 - 10,353 8,411 
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Finance Department 2020-03-03

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
Compensation Fund - Lawyers
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses

Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 Budget 2018
Actual YTD Variance Actual

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 9,603 9,627 (24) 12,420 
2 Investment income 877 826 51 769 
3 Change in fair value of investments 724 - 724 (1,249) 
4 Recoveries 68 350 (282) 68 
5 Total revenues 11,272 10,803 469 12,008 

EXPENSES
6 Provision for unpaid grants 575 9,840 9,265 2,745 
7 Administrative 641 963 322 786 
8 Total expenses 1,216 10,803 9,587 3,531 

9 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) 10,056 - 10,056 8,477 
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Finance Department 2020-03-03

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
Compensation Fund - Paralegals
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses

Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 Budget 2018
Actual YTD Variance Actual

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 91 97 (6) 70 
2 Investment income 111 149 (38) 97 
3 Change in fair value of investments 131 - 131 (158) 
4 Recoveries 21 - 21 9 
5 Total revenues 354 246 108 18 

EXPENSES
6 Provision for unpaid grants (24) 122 146 (10) 
7 Administrative 81 124 43 94 
8 Total expenses 57 246 189 84 

9 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) 297 - 297 (66) 
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Finance Department 2020-03-03

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
Errors and Omissions Insurance Fund
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses and Change in Fund Balance

Stated in thousands of dollars
For the year ended December 31

2019 2018

Actual Actual

REVENUES
1 Insurance premiums and levies 102,772 102,657 

2 Investment income 459 444 

3 Change in fair value of investments 617 (988)

4 Other income - - 

5 Total revenues 103,848 102,113 

EXPENSES
6 Administrative - - 

7 Expenses 3 -

8 Insurance 102,772 102,657 

9 Total expenses 102,775 102,657 

10 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) 1,073 (544)

10 Interfund transfers (1,200) (600)

11 Change in fund balance (127) (1,144)

12 Fund balance, beginning of year 54,572 55,716 

13 Fund balance, end of year 54,445 54,572 
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FOR INFORMATION 

LAWYERS’ PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY COMPANY 
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

The Committee recommends the audited financial statements for the Lawyers' 
Professional Indemnity Company (LAWPRO) for the year ended December 31, 
2019 be received by Convocation for information. 

The Law Society provides mandatory professional liability insurance to lawyers through 
LAWPRO, a provincially licensed insurer and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Law 
Society. The statements have been approved by LAWPRO’s Board. 

The professional liability insurance program generally requires practising lawyers to pay 
premiums and levies to the E&O Fund that contribute toward the premium paid by the 
Law Society to fund the anticipated costs of professional liability claims made in each 
annual policy period. 

In addition to providing mandatory lawyers professional liability insurance, LAWPRO also 
sells optional excess lawyers professional liability insurance and title insurance.

Audit & Finance Committee – Report to Convocation 
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1 

Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company 

Financial Statements 

As at and for the year ended December 31, 2019 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
PwC Tower, 18 York Street, Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 0B2 
T: +1 416 863 1133, F: +1 416 365 8215 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Shareholder of Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company (the Company) as at December 31, 2019 and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS). 

What we have audited 
The Company’s financial statements comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019; 

 the statement of profit or loss for the year then ended; 

 the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
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preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario 
February 25, 2020
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LPIC-F19:REP:2/20  10  

Appointed Actuary’s Report 
 

I have valued the policy liabilities including reinsurance recoverables of Lawyers' Professional 
Indemnity Company for its statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 and their changes 
in its statement of profit or loss for the year then ended in accordance with accepted actuarial 
practice in Canada, including selection of appropriate assumptions and methods. 

 
In my opinion, the amount of the policy liabilities makes appropriate provision for all policy 
obligations and the financial statements fairly present the results of the valuation. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

    Montréal, Québec    Louis-Christian Dupuis  
  25 February 2020   Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries 
         Eckler Ltd. 
         1801 McGill College Avenue, Suite 1460  
         Montréal, Québec, H3A 2N4 
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Lawyers' Professional Indemnity Company
Statement of Profit or Loss
Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

For the year ended December 31 2019 2018

Income

Gross written premiums 114,724        114,784        
Premiums ceded to reinsurers (note 12) (7,128)          (7,202)          
Net written premiums 107,596        107,582        
(Increase) decrease in unearned premiums (note 11) 11                (43)              
Net premiums earned 107,607      107,539      
Net investment income (note 5) 23,021          19,711          
Ceded commissions 1,524           1,862           

132,152      129,112      

Expenses

Gross claims and adjustment expenses (note 10) 104,337        84,767          
Reinsurers' share of claims and adjustment expenses (note 10) (4,909)          (3,775)          
Net claims and adjustment expenses 99,428          80,992          
Operating expenses (note 16) 22,522          22,138          
Finance costs 428              -              
Premium taxes 3,443           3,445           

125,821      106,575      

Profit (loss) before income taxes 6,331          22,537        

Income tax expense (recovery) (note 15)
Current 1,409           5,598           
Deferred 74                87                

1,483          5,685          

Profit (loss) 4,848          16,852        

Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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8 

Lawyers' Professional Indemnity Company
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

For the year ended December 31 2019 2018

Profit (loss) 4,848            16,852          

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax:
   Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
       Remeasurements of defined benefit obligation, net of income tax expense
         (recovery) of ($194) [2018: $143]  (note 14) (539)              (397)              

   Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
     Available-for-sale assets
        Net changes unrealized gains (losses), net of income tax expense (recovery)
          of $4,721 [2018: ($4,836)] 13,092          (13,417)         
        Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses recognized in profit or loss,
           net of income tax (expense) recovery of ($730) [2018: ($2,027)] (2,023)           (5,622)           
        Reclassification adjustment for impairments, recognized in profit or loss,
           net of income tax expense of $887 (2018: $853)  (note 5) 2,461            2,368            

Other comprehensive income (loss) 12,991          (17,068)         

Comprehensive income (loss) 17,839          (216)              

Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Lawyers' Professional Indemnity Company
Statement of Changes in Equity
Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

Capital stock Contributed 
surplus Retained earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income

Equity

Balance at December 31, 2017 5,000            30,645          182,716          35,317          253,678        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year -                -                16,852            (17,068)         (216)              
Transfer of defined benefit remeasurements
    from OCI to retained earnings -                -                (397)                397               -                

Balance at December 31, 2018 5,000            30,645          199,171          18,646          253,462        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year -                -                4,848              12,991          17,839          
Transfer of defined benefit remeasurements
    from OCI to retained earnings -                -                (539)                539               -                

Balance at December 31, 2019 5,000            30,645          203,480          32,176          271,301        

 
The aggregate of retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income as at December 31, 2019 is 
$235,656 (December 31, 2018: $217,817). 
 
 
Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Lawyers' Professional Indemnity Company
Statement of Cash Flows
Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars

For the year ended December 31 2019 2018

Operating Activities

Profit (loss) 4,848                  16,852                
Items not affecting cash:

Deferred income taxes 74                       87                       
Amortization of property and equipment 1,050                  682                     
Amortization of intangible asset 219                     219                     
Realized (gains) losses on disposition or impairment 256                     (3,735)                
Amortization of premiums and discounts on bonds (1,685)                661                     
Changes in unrealized (gains) losses (4,023)                1,135                  

739                     15,901                

Changes in non-cash working capital balances:
Investment income due and accrued (90)                     322                     
Due from reinsurers 698                     (365)                   
Due from insureds (153)                   (109)                   
Due from the Law Society of Ontario 1,159                  (1,583)                
Reinsurers' share of provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses (5,791)                 (1,011)                
Other receivables 155                     2,115                  
Other assets (495)                    23                       
Income taxes due and accrued (recoverable) (2,315)                4,380                  
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses 16,995                (10,439)              
Unearned premiums (11)                     43                       
Expenses due and accrued 504                      1,055                  
Other taxes due and accrued (36)                     (9)                       

Net cash inflow from operating activities 11,359                10,323                

Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment (154)                   (649)                   
Purchases of intangible asset (229)                   -                     
Purchases of investments (249,417)            (277,042)            
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 246,688              257,404              

Net cash outflow from investing activities (3,112)                (20,287)              

Financing Activities
Payment of lease liabilities (411)                   -                     

Total cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities (411)                   -                     

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the year 7,836                  (9,964)                
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 10,281                20,245                
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 18,117                10,281                

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year consists of:
Cash 8,274                  9,710                  
Cash equivalents 9,843                  571                     

18,117                10,281                

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid (operating activity) 3,724                  1,218                  
Interest received (investing activity) 13,787                14,693                
Interest paid (financing activity) 393                     -                     
Dividends received (investing activity) 5,047                  4,692                  

Accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 
Amounts stated in Canadian dollars (amounts in tables in thousands) 
 

11 

 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS  
 
Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company (the “Company”) is an insurance company, incorporated on March 14, 1990 
under the Corporations Act (Ontario) and licensed to provide lawyers professional liability insurance in Ontario and title 
insurance in all provinces and territories in Canada.  The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Law Society of 
Upper Canada, operating as the Law Society of Ontario (the “Law Society”), which is the governing body for lawyers and 
paralegals in Ontario.  The Company’s registered office is located at 250 Yonge Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada. 
 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
These financial statements have been prepared under the Insurance Act (Ontario) and related regulations which require that, 
except as otherwise specified by the Company’s primary insurance regulator, the Financial Services Regulatory Authority 
of Ontario (“FSRA”), the financial statements of the Company are to be prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).   
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards issued and effective on or before 
December 31, 2019.  None of the accounting requirements of FSRA represent exceptions to IFRS.  These financial 
statements were authorized for issuance by the Company’s Board of Directors on February 25, 2020. 
 
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized below.  These 
accounting policies conform, in all material respects, to IFRS. 
 
Basis of measurement 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis that are measured at the end of each reporting 
period, except for certain financial instruments and the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, as explained 
in the accounting policies below.  Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given for goods 
and services. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique.  In estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability that market participants would likely take into account when pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date.  A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.   
 
The valuation process includes utilizing market driven fair value measurements from active markets where available, 
considering other observable and unobservable inputs and employing valuation techniques which make use of current 
market data.  Considerable judgement may be required in interpreting market data used to develop the estimates of fair 
value.  Accordingly, the estimates presented in these financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that 
would be realized in a current market exchange. 
 
The Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used in valuation techniques to measure fair value, 
which prioritizes these inputs into three broad levels.  The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value 
measurement is categorized in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety.  For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value 
measurement in its entirety.  The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 

Convocation - Audit & Finance Committee Report

114



Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 
Amounts stated in Canadian dollars (amounts in tables in thousands) 
 

12 

Level 1 - Quoted market prices in active markets 
Inputs to Level 1, the highest level of the hierarchy, reflect fair values that are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets and liabilities.  An active market is considered to be one in which transactions for the asset or liability 
occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  Level 1 assets and 
liabilities include debt and equity securities, quoted unit trusts and derivative contracts that are traded in an active exchange 
market, as well as certain government and agency mortgage-backed debt securities that are highly liquid and are actively 
traded in over-the-counter markets. 
 
Level 2 – Modelled with significant observable market inputs   
Inputs to Level 2 fair values are inputs, other than quoted prices within Level 1 prices that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.  Level 2 inputs include:  
quoted prices for similar (i.e. not identical) assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar 
assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, the prices are not current, or price quotations vary substantially either 
over time or among market makers, or in which little information is released publicly; inputs other than quoted prices that 
are observable for the asset or liability (for example, interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted 
intervals, volatilities, prepayment spreads, loss severities, credit risks, and default rates); and inputs that are derived 
principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation or other means (market corroborated inputs).  
Valuations incorporate credit risk by adjusting the spread above the yield curve for government treasury securities for the 
appropriate amount of credit risk for each issuer, based on observed market transactions.  To the extent observed market 
spreads are either not used in valuing a security, or do not fully reflect liquidity risk, the valuation methodology reflects a 
liquidity premium.  Examples of these are securities measured using discounted cash flow models based on market 
observable swap yields, and listed debt or equity securities in a market that is inactive.  This category generally includes 
government and agency mortgage-backed debt securities and corporate debt securities. 
 
Level 3 - Modelled with significant unobservable market inputs  
Inputs to Level 3 are unobservable, supported by little or no market activity, and are significant to the fair value of the 
assets or liabilities.  Unobservable inputs may have been used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are 
not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the 
measurement date (or market information for the inputs to any valuation models).  As such, unobservable inputs reflect the 
assumptions the business unit considers that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Where estimates 
are used, these are based on a combination of independent third-party evidence and internally developed models, calibrated 
to market observable data where possible.  Level 3 assets and liabilities generally include certain private equity 
investments, certain asset-backed securities, highly structured, complex or long-dated derivative contracts, and certain 
collateralized debt obligations where independent pricing information was not able to be obtained for a significant portion 
of the underlying assets. 

 
Use of estimates and judgments made by management 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates 
and changes in estimates are recorded in the reporting period in which they are determined.  Key estimates are discussed in 
the following accounting policies and applicable notes. 
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Key areas where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies, often as a result of matters that are inherently uncertain, include:  

 
Impairment  Note 5c  
Unpaid claims and adjustment expenses  Note 10  
Income taxes  Note 15 

 
Financial instruments – recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets are classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale, held to maturity or loans 
and receivables.  Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL or as other financial liabilities.  These classifications are 
determined based on the characteristics of the financial assets and liabilities, the company’s choice and/or the company’s 
intent and ability.  As permitted under the IFRS standards, a company has the ability to designate any financial instrument 
irrevocably, on initial recognition or adoption of the standards, as FVTPL provided certain criteria are met.   
 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are measured on the statement of financial position at fair value on initial 
recognition and are subsequently measured at fair value or amortized cost depending on their classification as indicated 
below.   
 
Transaction costs for FVTPL investments are expensed in the current period, and for all other categories of investments are 
capitalized and, when applicable, amortized over the expected life of the investment.  The Company accounts for the 
purchase and sale of securities using trade date accounting.  Realized gains or losses on disposition are determined on an 
average cost basis.   
 
The effective interest method is used to calculate amortization/accretion of premiums or discounts on fixed income 
securities over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the fixed income security, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, 
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.   
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position with realized gains and losses 
and net changes in unrealized gains and losses recorded in net investment income along with dividends and interest earned. 
 
The Company maintains an investment portfolio, referred to as the cash-flow matched portfolio, which is designated as 
FVTPL.  This portfolio is invested with the primary objective of matching the cash inflows from fixed income investment 
securities with the expected timing and magnitude of future payments of claims and adjustment expenses.  The cash-flow 
matched portfolio represents a significant component of the Company’s risk management strategy for meeting its claims 
obligations.  The designation of the financial assets in the cash-flow matched investment portfolio as FVTPL is intended to 
significantly reduce the measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets, 
liabilities, and gains and losses under different accounting methods.  Interest rate movements cause changes in the values of 
the investment portfolio and of discounted estimated future claims liabilities.  As the changes in values of the matched 
portfolio and of the discounted estimated future claims liabilities flow through profit or loss, the result is an offset of a 
significant portion of these changes. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are also classified as FVTPL.  Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and short-
term investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition.  The net gain or loss recognized 
incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset. 
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Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position.  Net interest 
income, including amortization of premiums and the accretion of discounts, are recorded in investment income in profit or 
loss.  Dividend income on common and preferred shares is included in investment income on the ex-dividend date.  
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale fixed income securities resulting from changes to foreign exchange rates are 
recognized in net investment income as incurred.  Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale fixed income securities 
related to the underlying investment in its issued currency, as well as all elements of fair value changes of available-for-sale 
equity securities, are recorded to unrealized gains and losses in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) until 
disposition or impairment is recognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified to net investment income 
in profit or loss.  When a reliable estimate of fair value cannot be determined for equity securities that do not have quoted 
market prices in an active market, the security is valued at cost.   
 
Financial assets in the Company’s surplus portfolio (consisting of all investments outside the cash-flow matched portfolio), 
including fixed income securities and equities, are designated as available-for-sale. 
 
Loan and receivables and Other liabilities 
 
The Company has not designated any financial assets as held to maturity.  Due from reinsurers, insureds and Law 
Society of Ontario and Other receivables and Due to reinsurers and insureds are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  Given the short term nature of these financial assets and liabilities, amortized cost 
approximates fair value. 
 
Leases 
 
The Company is a lessee under various operating leases relating to premises and equipment. For all leases, except for leases 
which are short term or of low value, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability are recognized on the statement of financial 
position. Right-of-use assets are measured on a lease by lease basis and are discounted using the company’s incremental 
borrowing rates. Right -of -use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease liabilities are 
measured at the present value of future payments, using the Company’s incremental borrowing rates.  Interest charge  is 
applied based on the discount rate used in the calculation of the initial lease liability, and increases the value of the lease 
liability. Amounts paid under the terms of the lease are deducted from the value of the lease liability, representing the 
reduction in the Company’s payment obligations. 

 
Prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, leased assets were not recognized in the statement of financial position. Payments made 
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to income over the period of the lease. 
 
Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are recorded in the statement of financial position at cost less accumulated amortization.  
Amortization is charged to operating expense on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 
 

Furniture and fixtures    5 years 
Computer equipment    3 years 
Computer software    1 to 3 years 
Leasehold improvements   Term of lease 
Right-of-use assets    Term of lease 

 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising from the disposal or retirement of an item of property 
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and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately or internally developed are carried at cost, less any 
applicable accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Once an acquired intangible asset is available for 
use, amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful life and 
amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being 
accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
 
An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying cost of the asset, are recognized in profit and loss when the asset is derecognized. 
 
Impairment 
 
Financial Assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are tested for impairment on a quarterly basis.  Objective evidence of impairment for 
fixed income securities includes financial difficulty of the issuer, bankruptcy or defaults and delinquency in payments of 
interest or principal.  Objective evidence of impairment for equities includes a significant or prolonged decline in fair value 
of the equity below cost or changes with adverse effects that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or 
legal environment in which the issuer operates that indicates the cost of the security may not be recovered.  In general, an 
equity security is considered impaired if the decline in fair value relative to cost has been either at least 25% for a 
continuous nine-month period or more than 40% at the end of the reporting period, or been in an unrealized loss position 
for a continuous period of 18 to 24 months. 
 
Where there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale asset is impaired, the loss accumulated in AOCI is reclassified 
to net investment income.  Once an impairment loss is recorded to profit or loss, the loss can only be reversed into income 
for fixed income securities to the extent a subsequent increase in fair value can be objectively correlated to an event 
occurring after the loss was recognized.  Following impairment loss recognition, further decreases in fair value are recorded 
as an impairment loss to profit or loss, while a subsequent recovery in fair value for equity securities, and fixed income 
securities that do not qualify for loss reversal treatment, are recorded to other comprehensive income (“OCI”).  Interest 
continues to be accrued, but at the effective rate of interest based on the fair value at impairment, and dividends of equity 
securities are recognized in income when the Company’s right to receive payment has been established. 
 
Non-Financial Assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amount of its property and equipment, intangible 
assets and other non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss.  If any indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss, if any.  When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  Intangible assets not yet 
available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted.  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment 
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loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.  If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the 
asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of impairment loss is recognized immediately in 
profit or loss.  
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
The Canadian dollar is the functional and presentation currency of the Company.  Transactions in foreign currencies are 
translated into Canadian dollars at rates of exchange at the time of such transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities are 
translated at current rates of exchange, with all translation differences recognized in investment income in the current 
period.  If a gain or loss on a non-monetary asset and liability is recognized in OCI, any exchange component of that gain 
or loss is also recognized in OCI, and conversely, if a gain or loss on a non-monetary asset and liability is recognized in 
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Premium-related balances 
 
The Company issues two types of professional liability policies:  a primary lawyer’s errors and omissions policy and an 
excess policy increasing the insurance coverage limit to a maximum of $9 million per claim/$9 million in the aggregate 
above the $1 million per claim/$2 million aggregate levels provided by the primary policy; and a title insurance policy.  
Insurance policies written under the professional liability insurance program are effective on a calendar year basis.  
Professional liability insurance premium income is earned on a pro rata basis over the term of coverage of the underlying 
insurance policies, which is generally one year, except for policies for retired lawyers, which have terms of up to five years.  
Title insurance premiums are earned at the inception date of the policies. 
 
Unearned premiums reported on the statement of financial position represent the portion of premiums written that relate to 
the unexpired risk portion of the policy at the end of the reporting period.  
 
Premiums receivable are recorded in the statement of financial position as amounts due from insureds, net of any required 
provision for doubtful amounts.  Premiums received from insureds in advance of the effective date of the insurance policy 
are recorded as amounts due to insureds in the statement of financial position. 
 
The Company defers policy acquisition expenses, primarily premium taxes on its written professional liability insurance 
premiums, to the extent these costs are considered recoverable.  These costs are expensed on the same basis that the related 
premiums are earned.  The method to determine recoverability of deferred policy acquisition expenses takes into 
consideration future claims and adjustment expenses to be incurred as premiums are earned and anticipated net investment 
income.  Deferred policy acquisition expenses are not material at year-end, and therefore the Company’s policy is to not 
recognize an asset on the statement of financial position. 
 
Unpaid claims and adjustment expenses 
 
The provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses includes an estimate of the cost of projected final settlements of 
insurance claims incurred on or before the date of the statement of financial position, consisting of case estimates prepared 
by claims adjusters and a provision for incurred but not reported claims (“IBNR”) calculated based on accepted actuarial 
practice in Canada as required by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”).  These estimates include the full amount of 
all expected expenses, including related investigation, settlement and adjustment expenses, net of any anticipated salvage 
and subrogation recoveries.  The professional liability insurance policy requires insureds to pay deductibles to the 
maximum extent of $25,000 on each individual claim, subject to an additional $10,000 for certain claims involving an 
administrative dismissal.  Expected deductible recoveries on paid and unpaid claims are recognized net of any required 
provision for uncollectible accounts at the same time as the related claims liability.  
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The provision takes into consideration the time value of money using discount rates based on the estimated market value 
based yield to maturity of the underlying assets backing these liabilities, with reductions for estimated investment-related 
expense and credit risk.  A provision for adverse deviations (“PfAD”) is then added to the discounted liabilities, to allow for 
possible deterioration of experience in claims development, recoverability of reinsurance balances and investment risk, in 
order to generate the actuarial present value. 
 
These estimates of future claims payments and adjustment expenses are subject to uncertainty and are selected from a wide 
range of possible outcomes.  All provisions are periodically reviewed and evaluated in light of emerging claims experience 
and changing circumstances.  The resulting changes in estimates of the ultimate liability are reported as net claims and 
adjustment expenses in the reporting period in which they are determined. 

 
Reinsurance 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into per claim and excess of loss reinsurance contracts with other 
insurers in order to limit its net exposure to significant losses.  Amounts relating to reinsurance in respect of the premiums 
and claims-related balances in the statements of financial position and profit or loss are recorded separately.  Premiums 
ceded to reinsurers are presented before deduction of broker commission and any premium-based taxes or duty.  Amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated and recognized in a manner consistent with the Company’s method of 
determining the underlying provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses covered by the reinsurance contract.  
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  An 
impairment loss is recognized and the amount recoverable from reinsurers is reduced by the amount by which the carrying 
value exceeds the expected recoverable amount under the impairment analysis. 
 
Ceding commissions, which relate to amounts received from the Company’s reinsurers on the placement of its reinsurance 
contracts, is earned into income on a pro rata basis over the contract period. 
 
Income taxes 
 
Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  
Current tax is based on taxable income which differs from profit or loss as reported in the statement of profit or loss and 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.  Current tax includes any adjustments in respect of 
prior years. 
 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary income tax differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on the enacted or substantively enacted tax laws and rates that are anticipated to apply in the period of 
realization.  The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities utilizes the liability method, reflecting the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
the related assets and liabilities.  The carrying amount of the deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
 
Income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levied by the same taxation authority and there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets with current tax liabilities. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
The Company maintains a defined contribution pension plan for its employees as well as a supplemental defined benefit 
pension plan for certain designated employees, which provides benefits in excess of the benefits provided by the 
Company’s defined contribution pension plan.  For the supplemental defined benefit pension plan, the benefit obligation is 
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determined using the projected unit credit method.  Actuarial valuations are carried out at the end of each annual reporting 
period using management’s assumptions on items such as discount rates, expected asset performance, salary growth and 
retirement ages of employees.  The discount rate is determined based on the market yields of high quality, mid-duration 
corporate fixed income securities. 
 
Defined contribution plan expenses are recognized in the reporting period in which services are rendered.  Regarding the 
supplemental defined benefit pension plan, remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes 
to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest cost), is reflected immediately in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income with a charge or credit recognized in OCI in the period in which 
they occur.  Remeasurements recognized in OCI are transferred immediately to retained earnings and will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss.  Past service cost is recognized in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment.  Net interest 
is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset.  
Defined benefit costs are categorized as follows:  service cost (including current service, past service cost, as well as gains 
or losses on curtailments and settlements), net interest expense or income, and remeasurements.  The Company presents the 
first two components of defined benefit cost as part of operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus in 
the Company’s defined benefit pension plan.  Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of 
any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.  
 
 
3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRSs RELEVANT TO THE COMPANY 
 
In the current year, the Company has applied the following revised IFRSs issued by the IASB that are mandatorily effective 
for an accounting period that begins on or after January 1, 2019. 
 
a)  IFRS 16 “Leases” 
 
IFRS 16 “Leases” was issued in January 2016, and replaces the previous leases standard, IAS 17 “Leases”. The standard is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 brings leases onto the statement of financial 
position for lessees, eliminating the previous classifications of operating and finance leases. 
 
The Company adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. This resulted in the recognition of operating 
leases on the statement of financial position as right-of-use assets ($11,064,281) and corresponding lease liabilities 
($11,064,281) at transition.  There was no change in opening retained earnings from the adoption as at January 1, 2019.  
Comparative information was not restated in accordance with transitional provisions. 
 
At the transition date, right-of-use assets were measured on a lease-by-lease basis at their carrying amount as if IFRS 16 
had been applied since the lease commencement date, discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rates as at 
January 1, 2019. 
 
Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of future lease payments, using the Company’s incremental borrowing 
rates. The weighted-average discount rate applied was 3.95%. 
 
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position. The interest and amortization 
expense are presented in Finance costs and Operating expenses respectively in the statement of profit or loss. 
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Reconciliation of operating lease commitments and lease liabilities: 
 
(in thousands of dollars)   
Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018 $16,193  
Lease renewal terms not previously included in operating lease commitments 17,561  
Operating costs component (17,924)  
Lease liabilities before discounting as at January 1, 2019 $15,830  
Discounting (4,766)  
Lease liabilities as at January 1, 2019 $11,064  

 
 
 
 
b)  IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” 
 
In June 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC 23, an interpretation that specifies that, if an entity concludes it is probable that the 
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall determine the tax result consistently with the tax 
treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filing. If it is not probable, the entity shall reflect the effect of 
uncertainty for each uncertain tax treatment by using either of the following methods, depending on which one the entity 
expects to better predict the resolution of the uncertainty: the most likely amount, representing the single most likely 
amount in a range of possible outcomes; or the expected value, representing the sum of the probability-weighted amounts in 
a range of possible outcomes.  The adoption of these amendments did not have any significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements.  
 
 
c)  Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” – Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments 
Classified as Equity 
 
In December 2017, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12 to clarify that an entity should account for the income tax on 
dividends in profit or loss, OCI or equity, depending on where the entity recognized the originating transaction or event that 
generated the distributable profits giving rise to the dividend. The adoption of these amendments did not have any 
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
 
d)  Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” – Plan Amendment, curtailment or settlement 
 
In February 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 19 to specify how companies determine pension expense when 
changes to a defined benefit pension plan occur. A company would now use updated assumptions from the remeasurement 
of the net defined benefit asset (liability) to determine the current service cost and net interest for the period. Currently, it 
would not have updated its calculation of these costs until year-end. The adoption of these amendments did not have any 
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
 
4. NEW AND REVISED IFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 
a)  IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 
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IFRS 9, issued in November 2009 as part of a three-phase project to replace IAS 39 “Financial Instruments:  Recognition 
and Measurement”, introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets.  IFRS 9 was 
subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting.  
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include impairment requirements for financial assets 
as well as limited amendments to the classification and measurements by introducing fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments. 
 
Pursuant to IFRS 9, all recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 are required to be subsequently 
measured at amortized cost or fair value.  Specifically, debt instruments that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal outstanding, are generally measured at amortized cost.  Debt instruments that are held within a 
business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that 
have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding, are measured at FVOCI.  All other debt securities, as well as equity securities, are 
measured at FVTPL.  Entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity 
security in OCI, with only dividend income generally recognized in profit or loss.  In addition, under the fair value option, 
entities may elect for amortized cost or FVOCI debt securities to be designated as FVTPL. 

 
With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as FVTPL, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in 
the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is to be recognized in 
OCI, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an 
accounting mismatch in profit or loss.  Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial 
liability designated as FVTPL is recognized in profit or loss.   
 
With regards to debt securities measured at amortized cost or FVOCI, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model for 
determining impairment, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39.  The expected credit loss model 
requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to 
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.  In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have 
occurred before impairment losses are recognized.  Under IFRS 9, impairment is not considered for equity securities. 
 
IFRS 9 as revised (2014) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. In September 2016, the IASB 
published amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”, which provides two options for entities that issue insurance 
contracts: a) recognize in OCI, rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when IFRS 9 is applied before the 
new insurance contracts standard is effective (the ‘overlay approach’) and b) if the entity’s activities are predominantly 
connected with insurance it may exercise a temporary exemption to continue applying IAS 39 instead of IFRS 9 until 
January 1, 2021 (the ‘deferral approach’). The Company qualifies for, and has elected to apply, the deferral option. The 
Company has concluded that its activities are predominantly connected with insurance, as the amount of its insurance 
liabilities are significant compared with its total amount of liabilities and the percentage of its liabilities connected with 
insurance relative to its total amount of liabilities is greater than 90 per cent. The Company anticipates that the application 
of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on amounts reported in respect of the Company’s financial assets. 
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until the Company completes its 
detailed review.  
 
In November 2018, the IASB tentatively decided that the mandatory effective date of IFRS 17 should be deferred by one 
year, and consequently, the fixed expiry date for the temporary exemption in IFRS 4 should be amended to annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022, subject to public consultation. 
 

 
b)  IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” 
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In May 2017, the IASB published IFRS 17, a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering 
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure, which replaces IFRS 4 and introduces consistent accounting for 
all insurance contracts. IFRS 17 provides a general model for the recognition of insurance contracts, as well as a simplified 
model (premium allocation approach) for short-duration contracts, which will be applicable to most property and casualty 
insurance contracts. The standard requires a company to measure insurance contracts using updated estimates and 
assumptions that reflect the timing of cash flows and any uncertainty relating to insurance contracts. Additionally, IFRS 17 
requires a company to recognize profits as it delivers insurance services. 
 
The main features of the simplified new accounting model for property and casualty insurance contracts are as follows: 

• the concept of portfolio, which is a group of contracts covering similar risks and managed together as a single pool. 
As such, contracts will be grouped for allocation of deferred acquisition costs, the calculation of risk adjustment, 
the determination of onerous contracts and the application of the discount rate; 

• insurance liabilities will be discounted at a rate that reflects the characteristics of the liabilities (as opposed to a rate 
based on asset returns) and the duration of each portfolio. Entities will record the effect of changes in discount rates 
either in profit or loss or OCI, according to their accounting policy choice; 

• changes in statement of financial position presentation where unearned premiums will correspond to premiums 
received in advance, while accounts receivable will be constituted of amounts not received when revenue is 
recognized. In profit or loss, direct premiums written will no longer be presented (only earned premiums). Also, 
insurance results will be presented without the impact of discounting. Amounts relating to financing and changes in 
discount rates will be shown separately; 

• disclosure: extensive disclosures to provide information on the recognized amounts from insurance contracts and 
the nature and extent of risks arising from these contracts. 

 
The standard applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, (see note 4b above). Retrospective 
application is required, but, if full retrospective application for a group of insurance contracts is impracticable, then the 
entity is required to choose either a modified retrospective approach or a fair value approach. The Company plans to adopt 
the new standard on the required effective date together with IFRS 9 (see note 4b above). The Company has been 
performing a high-level impact assessment of IFRS 17. The Company expects that the new standard will result in 
significant changes to accounting policies for insurance contract liabilities, but the impact has not yet been determined. 
 
 
c)  Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors” 
 
In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 to align the definition of “material” across the standards 
and to clarify certain aspects of the definition. The objective of this amendment is to improve disclosure effectiveness in the 
financial statements by improving the understanding of the existing requirements rather than to significantly impact an 
entity’s materiality judgements. The amendments apply prospectively to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2020. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments. 
 
 
d)  Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
 
In March 2018, the IASB issued a comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting: the revised Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting (“Conceptual Framework”), which replaces its previous version. The Conceptual 
Framework assists companies in developing accounting policies when no IFRS standard applies to a particular transaction 
and it helps stakeholders more broadly to better understand the standards. The revised Conceptual Framework’s effective 
date is January 1, 2020. The Company does not expect any significant impact upon its adoption. 
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5. INVESTMENTS 
 
a) Summary 

 
The tables below provide details of the cost or amortized cost as well as the fair value of the Company’s investments, 
classified by accounting category and investment type: 

Cost or 
amortized cost

Gross 
unrealized gains

Gross unrealized 
losses Fair value

Available-for-sale 
Fixed income securities 141,718           748                  (118)                   142,348           
Common equities 126,545           43,632             (11,099)              159,078           

268,263           44,380             (11,217)              301,426           
Designated as FVTPL

Fixed income securities 374,936           6,113               (808)                   380,241           
Preferred equities 615                  -                   (248)                   367                  

375,551           6,113               (1,056)                380,608           

Total 643,814           50,493             (12,273)              682,034           

Reconciled in aggregate to asset
classes as follows:

Fixed income securities 516,654           6,861               (926)                   522,589           
Equities 127,160           43,632             (11,347)              159,445           

Total 643,814           50,493             (12,273)              682,034           

December 31, 2019

 
 

Cost or 
amortized cost

Gross 
unrealized gains

Gross unrealized 
losses Fair value

Available-for-sale 
Fixed income securities 144,686 764 (714)                   144,736
Common equities 121,879 28,977 (12,465)              138,391

266,565           29,741             (13,179)              283,127           
Designated as FVTPL

Fixed income securities 370,670 4,129 (2,884)                371,915           
Preferred equities 615 -                   (211)                   404                  

371,285           4,129               (3,095)                372,319           

Total 637,850           33,870             (16,274)              655,446           

Reconciled in aggregate to asset
classes as follows:

Fixed income securities 515,356           4,893               (3,598)                516,651           
Equities 122,494           28,977             (12,676)              138,795           

Total 637,850           33,870             (16,274)              655,446           

December 31, 2018

 
 
In the above tables, the gross unrealized figures for common equities securities includes recognized impairments.  As at 
December 31, 2019, of the total cumulative impairments of $11,121,738 (December 31, 2018:  $9,298,441) an amount of 
$10,477,149 is included in gross unrealized losses (December 31, 2018:  $8,296,259) and an amount of $644,589 is 
included in gross unrealized gains (December 31, 2018:  $1,002,182).  For additional details, see note 5c. 
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b) Maturity profile of fixed income securities 
 
The maturity profile of fixed income securities and its analysis by type of issuer is as follows: 
 

Within 1 to 5 Over
1 year years 5 years Total

Available-for-sale
Issued or guaranteed by:
    Canadian federal government             33,023 10,444 241 43,708
    Canadian provincial and municipal governments             17,324 62,465 1,363 81,152
Corporate debt               6,170 10,678 640 17,488

56,517 83,587 2,244 142,348
Designated as FVTPL
Issued or guaranteed by:
    Canadian federal government 64,213 44,665                      - 108,878
    Canadian provincial and municipal governments             11,856             51,171             33,427 96,454
Mortgage backed securities                      -                  836               1,223               2,059 
Corporate debt 10,804 68,432 93,614 172,850

86,873 165,104 128,264 380,241

Fixed income securities 143,390 248,691 130,508 522,589
Percent of total 27% 48% 25% 100%

December 31, 2019

 
 

Within 1 to 5 Over
1 year years 5 years Total

Available-for-sale
Issued or guaranteed by:
    Canadian federal government               3,303 30,020 265 33,588
    Canadian provincial and municipal governments             21,104             66,486 5,020 92,610
Corporate debt               4,279 13,569 690 18,538

28,686 110,075 5,975 144,736
Designated as FVTPL
Issued or guaranteed by:
    Canadian federal government 6,795 58,630               4,113 69,538
    Canadian provincial and municipal governments             10,328             48,894 47,419 106,641
Mortgage backed securities                      -                  903               1,582 2,485
Corporate debt 8,089 66,345 118,817 193,251

25,212 174,772 171,931 371,915

Fixed income securities 53,898 284,847 177,906 516,651
Percent of total 10% 55% 34% 100%

December 31, 2018

 
 
The weighted average duration of fixed income securities as at December 31, 2019 is 2.93 years (December 31, 2018:  3.04 
years).  The effective yield on fixed income securities as at December 31, 2019 is 2.18% (December 31, 2018:  2.67%). 
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c) Impairment Analysis

Management performs a quarterly analysis of the Company’s available-for-sale investments to determine whether there is 
objective evidence that the estimated cash flows of the investments have been affected.  The analysis includes the following 
procedures as deemed appropriate by management: 

• identifying all security holdings in unrealized loss positions that have existed for a length of time that management
believes may impact the recoverability of the investment;

• identifying all security holdings in unrealized loss positions that have an unrealized loss magnitude that
management believes may impact the recoverability of the investment;

• reviewing the trading range of certain investments over the preceding calendar period;
• assessing whether any credit losses are expected for those investments.  This assessment includes consideration of,

among other things, all available information and factors having a bearing upon collectability such as changes to
credit rating by rating agencies, financial condition of the issuer, expected cash flows and value of any underlying
collateral;

• assessing whether declines in fair value for any fixed income securities represent objective evidence of impairment
based on their investment grade credit ratings from third party security rating agencies;

• assessing whether declines in fair value for any fixed income securities with non-investment grade credit rating
represent objective evidence of impairment based on the history of its debt service record; and

• obtaining a valuation analysis from third party investment managers regarding the intrinsic value of these holdings
based on their knowledge, experience and other market based valuation techniques.

As a result of the impairment analysis performed by management, $3,347,733 in write-downs to various equity 
securities were required for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018:  $3,221,366), which was recorded under 
net investment income in the statement of profit or loss. The remaining gross unrealized losses on AFS impaired 
securities  as at December 31, 2019 is $8,526,300  (December 31, 2018: $7,510,017). 

The movements in cumulative impairment write-downs on available-for-sale investments for the years ended December 31 
were as follows: 

2019 2018

Balance, as at January 1 9,298             6,661             
Increase for the year charged to profit or loss 3,348             3,221             
Release upon disposition (1,524)            (584)               

Balance, as at December 31 11,122           9,298             
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d) Net investment income  
 
Net investment income arising from investments designated as FVTPL and classified as available-for-sale recorded in profit 
or loss for the year ended December 31 is as follows: 
 

Designated 
as FVTPL

Available-
for-sale Total 

Designated 
as FVTPL

Available-
for-sale Total 

Interest 12,291        3,316          15,607        9,841          3,740          13,581        
Dividends 19               4,999          5,018          19               4,797          4,816          
Net realized gains (losses) 277             2,781          3,058          (688)            7,716          7,028          
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) 4,023          (6)                4,017          (1,124)         34               (1,090)         
Impairments -              (3,348)         (3,348)         -              (3,221)         (3,221)         

16,610        7,742          24,352        8,048          13,066        21,114        
Less: Investment expenses (368)            (963)            (1,331)         (402)            (1,001)         (1,403)         
Net investment income 16,242        6,779          23,021        7,646          12,065        19,711        

2019 2018

 
 

 
6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
The following tables present the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

As at December 31, 2019

Designated at 
fair value

Available-for-
sale Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value (recurring basis)
   Cash and cash equivalents 18,117               -                       18,117            18,117              -                       -                  18,117            
   Fixed income securities 380,241             142,348            522,589          317,927            204,662           -                  522,589          
   Common equities -                         159,078            159,078          159,078            -                       -                  159,078          
   Preferred equities 367                    -                       367                  -                        367                  -                  367                  

398,725    301,426   700,151 495,122   205,029  -         700,151 

As at December 31, 2018

Designated at 
fair value

Available-for-
sale Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value (recurring basis)
   Cash and cash equivalents 10,281               -                       10,281            10,281              -                       -                  10,281            
   Fixed income securities 371,915             144,736            516,651          290,912            225,739           -                  516,651          
   Common equities -                         138,391            138,391          138,391            -                       -                  138,391          
   Preferred equities 404                    -                       404                  -                        404                  -                  404                  

382,600    283,127   665,727 439,584   226,143  -         665,727 

Carrying amount Fair value

Carrying amount Fair value
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There were no transfers between any levels during the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018:  none).  Note that for financial 
instruments, such as short term trade receivables and payables, as well as the non-recurring financial assets and liabilities, 
the Company believes that their carrying amounts are reasonable approximations of fair value. 
 
 
7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 
During the years ending December 31, details of the movement in the carrying values by class of property and equipment 
are as follows: 

Furniture and 
fixtures

Computer 
equipment

Computer 
software

Leasehold 
improvements

Right-of-
use assets Total

January 1, 2018 492                  360            184           728                     -             1,764        
Additions 275                  107            35             232                     -             649           
Amortization (136)                 (206)           (83)            (257)                   -             (682)          

December 31, 2018 631                  261            136           703                     -             1,731        
Additions 24                    81              48             1                         11,065        11,219      
Amortization (158)                 (148)           (91)            (74)                     (579)           (1,050)       

December 31, 2019 497                  194            93             630                     10,486        11,900      

 
Details of the cost and accumulated amortization of property and equipment are as follows: 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Cost amortization value Cost amortization value

Furniture and fixtures 2,195            (1,698) 497               2,171            (1,540) 631               
Computer equipment 2,912            (2,718) 194               2,830            (2,569) 261               
Computer software 1,072            (979) 93                 1,025            (889) 136               
Leasehold improvements 4,403            (3,773) 630               4,402            (3,699) 703               
Right-of-use assets 11,065          (579) 10,486          -                -                -                
Total 21,647          (9,747) 11,900          10,428          (8,697) 1,731            

 
 
 
 
The right-of-use assets above is the office premises and equipment leases, which were capitalized on January 1, 2019 as per 
IFRS 16.  
 
The Company has a lease agreement for premises at 250 Yonge Street, commencing June 1, 2018 and expiring on May 31, 
2028.  The Company has an option to extend the lease period for two additional terms of five years each under the current 
general terms and conditions. The above capitalized amount takes into account 10 years of extension. 
 
 
8. INTANGIBLE ASSET 
 
The Company’s recognized intangible asset consists of a license and internally developed new platform for TitlePLUS 
product.  The license associated software became available for use during 2015, and as a result, is being amortized over its 
expected useful life of 68 months.  The Company started the capitalization of development cost related to a new TitlePLUS 
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platform from January 1, 2019. During the years ending December 31, details of the movement in the carrying values are as 
follows: 

2019 2018
Cost
Balance, beginning of year 1,243           1,243           
Additions from separate acquistions - - 
Additions from internal developments - - 
Software in development not yet in use 229 - 
Disposals or classified as held for sale - - 
Balance, end of year 1,472           1,243           

Accumulated amortization and impairment
Balance, beginning of year (804) (585)
Amortization expense (219) (219)
Disposals or classified as held for sale - -
Impairment losses - -
Balance, end of year (1,023) (804)
Carrying amount 449 439 

9. PROVISIONS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Provisions and other liabilities are comprised of the following: 

2019 2018 

Provisions

Expected to be settled in less than one year 102,808 102,769 

Expected to be settled in more than one year 388,836 371,880 

Total 491,644 474,649 

Lease Liabilities
Expected to be settled in less than one year 389 - 

Expected to be settled in more than one year 10,264 - 

Total 10,653 - 

10. PROVISION FOR UNPAID CLAIMS AND ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

a) Nature of unpaid claims and adjustment expenses

The determination of the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is a complex process based on known facts, 
interpretations and judgment and is influenced by a variety of factors.  These factors include the Company’s own 
experience with similar cases and historical trends involving claim payment patterns, loss payments, pending levels of 
unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, product mix and concentration, claims severity and claim frequency patterns. 
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Other factors include the continually evolving and changing regulatory and legal environment, actuarial studies, 
professional experience and expertise of the Company’s claim departments’ personnel and independent adjusters retained to 
handle individual claims, the quality of the data used for projection purposes, existing claims management practices 
including claims handling and settlement practices, the effect of inflationary trends on future claims settlement costs, 
investment rates of return, court decisions and economic conditions.  In addition, time can be a critical part of the provision 
determination, since the longer the span between the incidence of a loss and the settlement of the claim, the more potential 
for variation in the ultimate settlement amount.  Accordingly, short-tailed claims, such as property claims, tend to be more 
reasonably predictable than long-tailed claims, such as professional liability and title claims. 
 
The process of establishing the provision relies on the judgment and opinions of a large number of individuals, on historical 
precedents and trends, on prevailing legal, economic, social and regulatory trends and on expectations as to future 
developments.  The provision reflects expectations of the ultimate cost of resolution and administration of claims based on 
an assessment of facts and circumstances then known, together with a review of historical settlement patterns, estimates of 
trends in claims severity and frequency, legal theories of liability and other factors. 
 
Consequently, the measurement of the ultimate settlement costs of claims to date that underlies the provision for unpaid 
claims and adjustment expenses, and any related recoveries for reinsurance and deductibles, involves estimates and 
measurement uncertainty.  The amounts are based on estimates of future trends in claim severity and other factors which 
could vary as claims are settled.  Variability can be caused by several factors including the emergence of additional 
information on claims, changes in judicial interpretation, significant changes in severity or frequency of claims from 
historical trends, and inclusion of exposures not contemplated at the time of policy inception.  Ultimate costs incurred could 
vary from current estimates.  Although it is not possible to measure the degree of variability inherent in such estimates, 
management believes that the methods of estimation that have been used will produce reasonable results given the current 
information.   
 
b) Methodologies and assumptions 
 
The best estimates of future claims payments and adjustment expenses are determined based on one or more of the 
following actuarial methods:  the chain ladder method, the frequency and severity method and the expected loss ratio 
method.  Considerations in the choice of methods to estimate ultimate claims include, among other factors, the line of 
business, the number of years of experience and the relative maturity of the experience, and as such, reflect methods for 
lines of business with long settlement patterns and which are subject to the occurrence of large claims.  
 
Each method involves tracking claims data by “policy year”, which is the year in which such claims are made for the 
Company’s professional liability policies, and the year in which such policies were written for its title policies.  Claims paid 
and reported, gross and net of reinsurance recoveries and net of salvage and subrogation, are tracked by lines of business, 
policy years and development periods in a format known as claims development triangles.   
 
A description of each of these methods is as follows: 
 
i.  Chain ladder method 
The distinguishing characteristic of this form of development method is that ultimate claims for each policy year are 
projected from recorded values assuming the future claim development is similar to the prior years’ development.  
 
ii.  Frequency and severity method 
This method assumes that, for each identified homogenous claims type group, claims count reported to date will develop to 
ultimate in a similar manner to historical patterns, and settle at predictable average severity amounts.  This method involves 
applying the developed estimated ultimate claims count to selected estimated ultimate average claim severities. 
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iii.  Expected loss ratio method 
 
Using the expected loss ratio method, ultimate claims projections are based upon a priori measures of the anticipated 
claims.  An expected loss ratio is applied to the measure of exposure to determine estimated ultimate claims for each year.  
This method is commonly used in lines of business with a limited experience history. 
 
Claims data includes external claims adjustment expenses, and for a portion of the portfolio includes internal claims 
adjustment expenses (“IAE”).  A provision for IAE has been determined based on the Mango-Allen claim staffing 
technique, a transaction-based method which utilizes expected future claims handler workload per claim per handler, claims 
closure rates and ultimate claims count.  The IAE provision is included in the IBNR balances.  
 
The provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is discounted using an interest rate based on the estimated market 
value based yield to maturity, inherent credit risk and related investment expense of the Company’s fixed income securities 
supporting the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expense as at December 31, 2019, which was 2.45% (December 
31, 2018:  2.88%).  Reinsurance recoverable estimates and claims recoverable from other insurers are discounted in a 
manner consistent with the method used to establish the related liability.  Based on published guidance from the CIA, as at 
December 31, 2019 the PfAD was calculated at 15% (December 31, 2018:  15%) of the net discounted claim liabilities, 
1.5% (December 31, 2018:  1.5%) of the ceded discounted claim liabilities, and a 0.50% reduction to the discount rate 
(December 31, 2018:  0.50%). 
 
As the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is recorded on a discounted basis and reflects the time value of 
money, its carrying value is expected to provide a reasonable basis for the determination of fair value.  However, 
determination of fair value also requires the practical context of a buyer and seller, both of whom are willing and able to 
enter into an arm’s length transaction.  In the absence of such a practical context, the fair value is not readily determinable. 
 
 
The following table shows unpaid claims and adjustment expenses on an undiscounted basis and a discounted basis: 
 

Undiscounted Discounted Undiscounted Discounted
Unpaid claims and
  adjustment expenses 456,185 491,644 446,247 474,649
Recoverable from
  reinsurers (43,331) (46,297) (38,423) (40,506)
Net 412,854 445,347 407,824 434,143

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

 
 
 
Details of the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, by line of business, are summarized as follows: 
 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Gross Ceded Net Gross Ceded Net

Professional  liability 473,748 (46,250) 427,498 458,809 (40,458) 418,351
Title 17,896 (47) 17,849 15,840 (48) 15,792
Total 491,644 (46,297) 445,347 474,649 (40,506) 434,143  
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The provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses by case reserves and IBNR are as follows: 

An evaluation of the adequacy of claims liabilities is completed at the end of each financial quarter.  This evaluation 
includes a re-estimation of the liability for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses compared to the liability that was 
originally established.  As adjustments to estimated claims liabilities become necessary, they are reflected in current 
operations. 

c) Changes in methodologies or basis of selection of assumptions

Based on the Company’s actuarial valuation process, at each valuation the Company’s claims data is analyzed to determine 
whether the current methodologies and basis of selection of actuarial assumptions continue to be appropriate for the 
determination of the IBNR provision.  Upon review, the Company has deemed it appropriate to maintain the basis of 
selection of some key assumptions used in its actuarial valuation methods as at December 31, 2019 as per December 31, 
2018.    

Details of the claims and adjustment expenses for the year ended December 31 are as follows: 

2019 2018
Gross Ceded Net Gross Ceded Net

Claims & external adjustment expenses paid 77,217     (881) 78,098 85,007     2,762       82,245     
Change in case reserves 15,287     2,533       12,754     9,188       (2,992)      12,180     
Change in IBNR (6,206)      2,374       (8,580)      (16,000)    4,243       (20,243)    
Discount expense 7,057       883          6,174       (4,006)      (238) (3,768) 
IAE paid 10,125     - 10,125 10,198     - 10,198 
Change in provision for IAE 857          - 857 380          - 380 

104,337   4,909       99,428     84,767     3,775       80,992     

Changes in the provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, including IAE, recorded in the statement of financial 
position during the year is comprised of the following: 

Gross Ceded Net Gross Ceded Net
Case reserves 340,465 (3,919) 336,546 319,812 (1,197) 318,615
IBNR 151,179 (42,378) 108,801 154,837 (39,309) 115,528
Total 491,644 (46,297) 445,347 474,649 (40,506) 434,143

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
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2019 2018
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses – January 1 – net 434,143          445,593          
Change in net provision for claims and adjustment expenses due to:
            Prior years' incurred claims (27,927) (32,134)
            Current year's incurred claims 121,181          116,894          
Net claims and adjustment expenses paid in relation to:
            Prior years (74,327) (79,267)
            Current year (13,897) (13,175)
Impact of discounting 6,174              (3,768)
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses – December 31 – net 445,347          434,143          
Reinsurers’ share of provisions for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses 46,297            40,506            
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses – December 31 – gross 491,644          474,649            

 
d) Loss development tables 
 
The tables on the following pages show the development of claims, excluding IAE, by policy year over a period of time.  
The first table reflects development for gross claims, which excludes any reductions for reinsurance recoverables.  The 
second table reflects development for net claims, which is gross claims less reinsurance recoverables.  The top triangle in 
each table shows how the estimates of total claims for each policy year develop over time as more information becomes 
known regarding individual claims and overall claims frequency and severity.  Claims are presented on an undiscounted 
basis in the top triangle.  The bottom triangle in each table presents the cumulative amounts paid for claims and external 
loss adjustment expenses for each policy year at the end of each successive year.  At the bottom of each table, the provision 
for IAE as well as the effect of discounting and the PfAD, as at December 31, 2019, is presented based on the net amounts 
of the two triangles.  
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Before the effect of reinsurance, the loss development table is as follows: 
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After the effect of reinsurance, the loss development table is as follows: 
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11. UNEARNED PREMIUMS

The following changes have occurred in the provision for unearned premiums during the years ended December 31: 

2019 2018

Balance, as at January 1 1,111             1,068             

Net premiums written during the year 107,596         107,582         
Less: Net premiums earned during the year (107,607)        (107,539)        
Increase (decrease) in unearned premiums (11) 43 

Balance, as at December 31 1,100             1,111             

The estimates for unearned premium liabilities have been actuarially tested to ensure that they are sufficient to pay 
for future claims and expenses in servicing the unexpired policies as of the valuation dates. 

12. REINSURANCE

The Company’s reinsurance program consists of a 90% quota share cession on its excess professional liability 
policies (2018:  90%), and a $10 million in excess of $5 million per occurrence clash reinsurance arrangement 
which provides protection for single events that bring about multiple professional liability and/or title claims with 
an additional $20 million in excess of $15 million per occurrence.  Reinsurance does not relieve the Company of its 
primary liability as the originating insurer.  In the event that a reinsurer is unable to meet obligations assumed 
under reinsurance agreements, the Company is liable for such amounts.  Reinsurance treaties typically renew 
annually and the terms and conditions are reviewed by senior management and reported to the Company’s Board of 
Directors.  Reinsurance agreements are negotiated with reinsurance companies that have an independent credit 
rating of “A-” or better and that the Company considers creditworthy.  Based on current information on the 
financial health of the reinsurers, no provision for doubtful debts has been made in the financial statements in 
respect of reinsurers.  

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a service agreement effective January 1, 1995, and as amended effective September 30, 2009, the 
Company administers the Errors and Omissions Insurance Fund (the “Fund”) of the Law Society and provides all 
services directly related to the operations and general administration of the Fund in consideration for the Law 
Society insuring its mandatory professional liability insurance program with the Company. 

The insurance policy under the mandatory professional liability insurance program of the Law Society is written by 
the Company and is effective on a calendar year basis.  The insurance policy is renewed effective January 1 each 
year subject to the Law Society’s acceptance of the terms of renewal submitted by the Company.  The annual policy 
limits for each of the years effective January 1, 1995 to December 31, 2019 are $1 million per claim and $2 million 
in aggregate per member.  Under the insurance policy that was in force between July 1, 1990 and December 31, 
1994, the Company was responsible for claims in excess of the Law Society and member deductibles.  The 
provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is net of amounts relating to policies for years prior to 1995 
that are payable by the Law Society.   

Convocation - Audit & Finance Committee Report

137



Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Company 
Notes to financial statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 
Amounts stated in Canadian dollars (amounts in tables in thousands) 
 

35 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, $102,772,498 of the gross premiums written related to mandatory 
insurance coverage provided to the Law Society and its members (2018:  $102,657,327).  As at December 31, 
2019, the Company had a balance due from the Law Society of $7,422,485 (December 31, 2018:  $8,580,811 due 
from Law Society).   
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company contributed to the Law Society $351,328 in regards to a 
wellness program to be made available to the insureds of the Company’s primary liability policy (2018:  $300,055).  
This expenditure is included in the ‘professional fees’ category of operating expenses (see note 16). 
 
The total compensation to Company personnel classified as key management, being those having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including 
directors of the Company, is as follows: 
 

2019 2018

Short-term compensation and benefits 3,112              3,974              
Post employment benefits 390                 401                 

3,502              4,375               
 
 
14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
The Company has a defined contribution pension plan which is available to all its employees upon meeting the 
eligibility requirements.  Each employee is required to contribute 4.5% of yearly maximum pensionable earnings, 
and 6% in excess thereof, of an employee’s annual base earnings.  Under the plan, the Company matches all 
employee contributions.  In 2019, the Company made payments of $761,697 (2018:  $801,365) and recorded 
pension expense of $826,418 (2018:  $903,100).   
 
The Company also has a supplemental defined benefit pension plan, which provides pension benefits on a final 
salary or fixed schedule basis, depending on certain criteria.  Measurements and funding requirements of this plan 
are based on valuations prepared by an external actuary.  For reporting purposes the plan is measured using the 
projected unit credit method, which involves calculating the actuarial present value of the past service liability to 
members including an allowance for their projected future earnings.  Funding requirements for the plan are 
determined using the solvency method, which utilizes the estimated cost of securing each member’s benefits with 
an insurance company or alternative buy-out provider as at the valuation date.  The valuation methods are based on 
a number of assumptions, which vary according to economic conditions, including prevailing market interest rates, 
and changes in these assumptions can significantly affect the measurement of the pension obligations.   
 
Funding for the supplemental plan commenced in 2005, with $1,156,227 in contributions made in 2019 (2018: 
124,457) and recorded pension expenses of $241,903 in 2019 (2018:  $238,037).  Funding requirements are 
reviewed annually with an actuarial valuation for funding purposes effective as at December 31.  As the Company’s 
defined benefit pension plan qualifies as a “retirement compensation arrangement” pursuant to the Income Tax Act, 
half of any required annual contribution to the plan is remitted to the Canada Revenue Agency, held in a refundable 
tax account and refunded in prescribed amounts as actual benefit payments are made to the participants.  The most 
recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was performed effective December 31, 2019.  Management’s 
preliminary estimate is that $844,000 is the required contribution to the plan during the year ending December 31, 
2020. 
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The assets of both pension plans are held separately from those of the Company in funds under the control of 
trustees. 

The defined benefit pension plan exposes the Company to risks such as:  investment risk, interest rate risk, 
longevity risk and salary risk. 

Investment risk The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount 
rate determined by reference to high quality mid-duration corporate bond yields; if the 
return on plan assets is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit.  Currently the plan 
has a relatively balanced investment in equity and fixed income securities.  Due to the 
long-term nature of the plan liabilities, the Company considers it appropriate that a 
reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity securities to 
leverage the return generated by the fund. 

Interest rate risk A decrease in the market interest rate will increase the plan obligation; however, this 
will be partially offset by an increase in the return of the plan’s fixed income 
securities. 

Longevity risk The present value of the defined benefit plan obligation is calculated by reference to 
the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their 
employment.  An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase 
the plan’s obligation. 

Salary risk The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
future salaries of plan participants.  As such, an increase in the salary of the plan 
participants will increase the plan’s obligation. 

The following represents the assets and liabilities associated with pension benefits measured using values as at 
December 31: 

Defined benefit plan obligation 

2019 2018

Accrued benefit obligation
Balance, as at January 1 8,552 8,528 
  Current service cost 294 285 
  Interest cost 323 289 
  Remeasurement (gains) losses:
      Actuarial (gains) losses - demographic assumptions -                        -   
      Actuarial (gains) losses - financial assumptions 801 (428)
      Actuarial (gains) losses - experience adjustments 123 203 
  Benefits paid (480) (325)
Balance, as at December 31 9,613 8,552
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Defined benefit plan assets 

2019 2018
Plan assets
Fair value, as at January 1                 9,492               10,122 
Interest income on plan assets 376 336
Remeasurement gains (losses):
   Return on plan assets greater (less) than discount rate                    191  (765)
Benefits paid  (480)  (325)
Employer contribution                 1,156                    124 
Fair value, as at December 31               10,735                 9,492 

 
The defined benefit plan assets arise primarily from employer contributions that are originally allocated equally 
between deposits with the Government of Canada and investments in the units of a balanced pooled fund.  The fair 
values of the above equity and fixed income securities are derived based on quoted market prices in active markets.  
The plan assets contain the following financial instrument allocation:  
 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Equity securities 30.62% 30.69%
Fixed income securities 20.63% 20.68%
Cash and cash equivalents 0.23% 0.28%
Refundable-tax account 48.52% 48.35%

100% 100%  
 
Reconciliation of funded status surplus of the benefit plans to the amounts recorded in other assets in the financial 
statements is as follows: 
 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Fair value of plan assets                           10,735                             9,492 
Accrued benefit obligation                           (9,613)                           (8,552)
Accrued benefit asset                             1,122                                940  
 
The accrued benefit asset is included in other assets in the statement of financial position. 
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Amounts recognized in comprehensive income in respect of the defined benefit plan in the year
ended December 31:

2019 2018

Service cost:
    Current service cost 294 285 
    Past service cost and (gain) loss from settlements -                    -   
Net interest (income) expense (52) (47)
Components of defined benefit costs recognized in profit or loss 242 238

Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:
    Actuarial (gain) loss due to liability experience 123 203 
    Actuarial (gain) loss due to liability assumption changes 801 (428)
Actuarial (gain) loss arising during year 924 (225)
Return on plan assets (greater) less than discount rate (191) 765
Change in irrecoverable surplus (effect of asset ceiling) -                  -   
Components of defined benefit costs recognized in OCI 733 540 

Total 975 778 

The significant assumptions used by the Company for year-end measurement purposes are as follows: 

2019 2018

Discount rate 3.05% 3.75%
Rate of compensation increase 4.50% starting in 2021 4.5% starting in 2022
Mortality CPM 2014 Priv mortality table CPM 2014 Priv mortality table

with generational mortality with generational mortality
improvements following Scale improvements following Scale

MI-2017; pension size MI-2017; pension size
adjustment factors of 0.83 for adjustment factors of 0.83 for

males and 0.88 for females males and 0.88 for females

The sensitivity of the key assumption, namely discount rate, assuming all other assumptions remain constant, is as 
follows:  as at December 31, 2019, if the discount rate was 1% higher / (lower) the defined benefit obligation would 
decrease by $1,111,816 (increase by $1,359,062).  Note that the sensitivity analysis may not be representative of 
the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumption would occur in 
isolation of one or other changes as some of the assumptions may be correlated. 
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The expected maturity profile of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2019 is as follows: 
 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter

Expected benefit payments 480         480         480         479         479         2,442          
 
 
The defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2019 by participant category is as follows: 
 
Active participants 799          
Pensioners 8,814        

 
 
15. INCOME TAXES 
 
a) Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss 
 
The total income tax expense recognized in profit or loss is comprised as follows: 

 
 
 
 
Deferred income tax expense (recovery) recognized in profit or loss represents movements on the following items: 

 
 
  

2019 2018

Current income tax
(Recovered) expensed during the year 1,022             5,396              
Prior year adjustments 387                202                 
Total current income tax expense (recovery) 1,409            5,598             

Deferred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 74                 87                   
Changes in statutory tax rates -                -                 
Total deferred income tax expense (recovery) 74                 87                  

Total income tax expense (recovery) 1,483            5,685             

2019 2018

Unpaid claims and adjustment expenses (148)                 152                    
Investments (39)                   (39)                    
Pensions 238                  (44)                    
Property and equipment 23                    18                     

74                   87                     
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b) Income tax expense recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The total income tax expense recognized in OCI is comprised as follows: 

c) Income tax reconciliation

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes, calculated at the statutory income tax rate, to the income tax 
provision included in profit or loss. 

2019 2018

Profit or loss before income taxes            6,332             22,537    
Statutory income tax rate 26.50% 26.50%
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes at statutory rates              1,678               5,972  
Increase (decrease) resulting from:

Investments (613) (516)
Non-deductible meals and entertainment                 31                    27    
Other non-deductible items               387                  202    

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes            1,483               5,685    

The statutory rate applicable to the Company at December 31, 2019 is same as at December 31, 2018. 

During the year, the Company made income tax payments of $3,724,353 (2018:  $1,218,284) and received no 
income tax refunds (2018:  nil) from the various taxing authorities.  

2019 2018
Current income tax
Unrealized investment gains and losses 
  on available-for-sale portfolio 4,878 (6,010)        
Pensions - - 
Total current income tax expense 4,878         (6,010)       

Deferred income tax
Unrealized investment gains and losses 
  on available-for-sale portfolio - - 
Pensions (194) (143)
Total deferred income tax expense (194) (143) 

Total income tax expense in OCI 4,684         (6,153)       
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d) Net deferred income tax asset

The Company’s net deferred income tax asset is the result of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.  The sources 
of these temporary differences and the tax effects are as follows: 

 December 31  
2019 

 December 31  
2018 

Deferred tax assets
Net provision for unpaid claims
  and adjustment expenses - within one year             1,333                1,315    

- greater than one year             4,568                4,438    
Property and equipment - within one year -                      -   

- greater than one year 334    357    
          6,235              6,110    

Deferred tax liabilities
Investments - within one year (39) (39)

- greater than one year (197) (236)
Pension - within one year -                    -   

- greater than one year (216) (172)
(452) (447)

Total net deferred tax assets           5,783              5,663    

The Company believes that, based on available information, it is probable that the deferred income tax assets will 
be realized through a combination of future reversals of temporary differences and taxable income. 

16. OPERATING EXPENSES

The following table summarizes the Company’s operating expenses by nature: 
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2019 2018

Salaries and benefits 13,791                    13,312                  
Professional fees 2,293                      2,210                    
Occupancy lease 1,252                      1,331                    
Financial processing fees 881                         873                       
Directors remuneration 1,052                      1,004                    
Information systems 1,607                      1,216                    
Office and administrative expenses 395                         1,010                    
Amortization of property and equipment 859                         665                       
Communication 392                         517                       
Total 22,522                    22,138                  

 
 
Included in salaries and benefits are amounts for future employee benefits under a defined contribution plan of 
$761,697 (2018: $801,365) and a supplementary defined benefit plan of $241,903 (2018: $238,037).    
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17. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

Capital stock of the Company represents: 

30,000 Common Shares of par value of $100 each - authorized, issued and paid. 

20,000 6% non-cumulative, redeemable, non-voting Preferred Shares of par value of $100 each - authorized, issued 
and paid. 

The Preferred Shares meet the definition of equity in accordance with the criteria outlined in IAS 32 “Financial 
Instruments: Presentation”. 

Contributed surplus represents additional capitalization funding provided by the Law Society. 

18. STATUTORY INSURANCE INFORMATION

The Company is the beneficiary of trust accounts in the amount of $1,097,800 as at December 31, 2019 (December 
31, 2018:  $1,102,762) which are held as security for amounts recoverable from unregistered reinsurers of $70,879 
(2018: $70,765).  This trust balance is not reflected in these financial statements but is considered in determining 
statutory capital requirements. 

In accordance with licensing requirements, the Company no longer requires deposited securities with the regulatory 
authorities (December 31, 2018:  nil). 

19. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Capital is comprised of the Company’s equity.  As at December 31, 2019 the Company’s equity was $271,301,246 
(December 31, 2018:  $253,461,526).  The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain financial 
strength and protect its claims paying abilities, to maintain creditworthiness and to provide a reasonable return to 
the shareholder over the long term.  In conjunction with the Company’s Board of Directors and its Audit 
Committee, senior management develops the capital strategy and oversees the capital management processes of the 
Company.  Capital is managed using both regulatory capital measures and internal metrics. 

FSRA, the Company’s primary insurance regulator, along with other provincial insurance regulators, regulate the 
capital required in the Company using two key measures, i.e., Minimum Capital Test (“MCT”) and the Dynamic 
Capital Adequacy Test (“DCAT”).  FSRA mandates the MCT guideline which sets out 100% as the minimum and 
150% as the supervisory target for P&C insurance companies.  To ensure that it attains its objectives, the Company 
has established an internal target of 170% (2018:  170%) in excess of which, under normal circumstances, the 
Company will maintain its capital.  During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company complied with the 
various provincial regulators’ guidelines and as at December 31, 2019, the Company has a MCT ratio of 242% 
(December 31, 2018:  237%).  Annually, the Company’s Appointed Actuary prepares a DCAT on the MCT to 
ensure that the Company has adequate capital to withstand significant adverse event scenarios.  These scenarios are 
reviewed each year to ensure appropriate risks are included in the testing process.  The Appointed Actuary must 
present both an annual report and the DCAT report to management and the Audit Committee.  The DCAT report 
prepared during the year indicated that the Company’s capital position is satisfactory.  In addition, the target, actual 
and forecasted capital position of the Company is subject to ongoing monitoring by management using stress and 
scenario analysis to ensure its adequacy.     

The Company may use reinsurance to manage its capital position. 
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20. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
By virtue of the nature of the insurance company business, financial instruments comprise the majority of the 
Company’s statement of financial position as at both December 31, 2019 and 2018.  The most significant identified 
risks to the Company which arise from holding financial instruments and insurance contract liabilities include 
insurance risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.  The market risk exposure of the Company is primarily 
related to changes in interest rates and adverse movement in equity prices. 
 
The Company employs an enterprise-wide risk management framework which establishes practices for risk 
management and includes policies and processes to identify, assess, manage and monitor risks and risk tolerance 
limits.  It provides governance and supervision of risk management activities across the Company’s business units, 
promoting the discipline and consistency applied to the practice of risk management. 
 
The Company’s risk framework is designed to minimize risks that could materially adversely affect the value or 
stature of the Company, to contribute to stable and sustainable returns, to identify risks that the Company can 
manage in order to increase earnings, and to provide transparency of the Company’s risks through internal and 
external reporting.  The Company’s risk philosophy involves undertaking risks for appropriate return and accepting 
those risks that meet its objectives.  The Company’s risk management program is aligned with its long term vision 
and its culture supports an effective risk management program.  The key components of the risk culture include 
acting with fairness, appreciating the impact of risk on all major stakeholders, embedding risk management into 
day to day business activities, fostering full and transparent communications, cooperation, and aligning of 
objectives and incentives.  The Company’s risk management activities are monitored by its Risk Committee and 
Board of Directors. 
 
The risk exposure measures expressed below primarily include the sensitivity of the Company’s profit or loss, and 
OCI as applicable, to the movement of various economic factors.  These risk exposures include the sensitivity due 
to specific changes in market prices and interest rate levels projected using internal models as at a specific date, and 
are measured relative to a starting level reflecting the Company’s assets and liabilities at that date and the actuarial 
factors, investment returns and investment activity the Company assumes in the future.  The risk exposures 
measure the impact of changing one factor at a time and assume that all other factors remain unchanged.  Actual 
results can differ materially from these estimates for a variety of reasons including the interaction among these 
factors when more than one changes, changes in actuarial and investment return and future investment activity 
assumptions, actual experience differing from the assumptions, changes in business mix, effective tax rates, and 
other market factors and general limitations of the Company’s internal models. 
 
a) Insurance risk  
 
Insurance risk is the risk of loss due to actual experience differing from the experience assumed when a product 
was designed and priced with respect to claims, policyholder behaviour and expenses.  The Company has identified 
pricing risk, concentration of risk and reserving risk as its most significant sources of insurance risks.  The 
Company’s underwriting objective is to develop business within its target market on a prudent and diversified basis 
and to achieve profitable operating results. 
 
Pricing risk 
Pricing risk arises when actual claims experience differs from the assumptions included in pricing calculations.  
Historically, the underwriting results of the property and casualty industry have fluctuated significantly due to the 
cyclicality of the insurance market.  The market cycle is affected by the frequency and severity of claims, levels of 
capacity and demand, general economic conditions and price competition.  
 
The Company focuses on profitable underwriting using a combination of experienced underwriting staff, pricing 
models and price adequacy monitoring tools.  The Company prices its products taking into account numerous 
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factors including claims frequency and severity trends, product line expense ratios, special risk factors associated 
with the product line, and the investment income earned on premiums held until the payment of claims and 
expenses.  The Company’s pricing is designed to ensure an appropriate return while also providing long-term rate 
stability.  These factors are reviewed and adjusted periodically to ensure they reflect the current environment. 

Concentration of risk 
A concentration of risk represents the exposure to increased losses associated with an inadequately diversified 
portfolio of policy coverage.  The Company has a reinsurance program to limit its exposure to catastrophic losses 
from any one event or set of events.  The Company has approximately 99% of its business in Ontario (2018:  99%) 
and 95% in professional liability (2018:  95%), and consequently is exposed to trends, inflation, judicial changes 
and regulatory changes affecting these segments.   

Reserving risk 
Reserving risk arises because actual claims experience can differ adversely from the assumptions included in 
setting reserves, in large part due to the length of time between the occurrence of a loss, the reporting of the loss to 
the insurer and the ultimate resolution of the claim.  Claims provisions reflect expectations of the ultimate cost of 
resolution and administration of claims based on an assessment of facts and circumstances then known, a review of 
historical settlement patterns, estimates of trends in claims severity and frequency, legal theories of liability and 
other factors.  Reserve changes associated with claims of prior periods are recognized in the current period, which 
could have a significant impact on current year profit or loss.  In order to mitigate this risk the Company utilizes 
information systems in order to maintain claims data integrity, and the claims provision valuations are prepared by 
an internal actuary on a quarterly basis, and are reviewed separately by, and must be acceptable to, management of 
the Company every quarter and the external Appointed Actuary at mid-year and year-end.   

Sensitivity analyses 
Risks associated with property and casualty insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number of variables 
which complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis.  The Company considers that the provision for its unpaid claims 
and adjustment expenses recognized in the statement of financial position is adequate.  However, actual experience 
will differ from the expected outcome.  Among the Company’s lines of business, the professional liability line of 
business has the largest provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses.  Given this line of business and the 
actuarial methods utilized to estimate the related provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, the reported 
claims count development factors and average claim severity selections are the most critical of the assumptions 
used.  The following table provides the estimated increase (decrease) of the net provision for unpaid claims and 
adjustment expense and the after-tax net effect on equity if the reported claims count development factors were 
increased such that the estimate of unreported claims was 20% higher or the average claim severity selections were 
1% higher.  Other changes in assumptions are considered to be less material. 

Net provision for 
unpaid claims and 

adjustment expenses Equity

Net provision for 
unpaid claims and 

adjustment expenses Equity

Unreported claims +20% 4,493 (3,302)     4,856 (3,569) 
Average claim severities +1% 3,757 (2,761)     3,786 (2,783) 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
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b)  Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of a borrower or counterparty to fulfill its 
payment obligation to the Company.  Credit risks arise from cash and cash equivalents, investments in fixed income 
securities and preferred shares, and balances due from insureds and reinsurers. 
 
Management monitors credit risk and any mitigating controls.  The Company has established a credit review 
process where the credit quality of all exposures is continually monitored so that appropriate prompt action can be 
taken when there is a change which may have material impact. 
 
Governance processes around investments include oversight by the Board of Directors’ Investment Committee.  
The oversight includes reviews of the Company’s third party investment managers, investment performance and 
adherence to the Company’s investment policy.  The Company’s investment policy statement is reviewed at least on 
an annual basis and addresses various matters including investment objectives, risks and management.  Guidelines 
and limits have been established in respect of asset classes, issuers of securities and the nature of securities to 
address matters such as quality and concentration of risks.   
With respect to credit risk arising from balances due from reinsurers, the Company's exposure is measured to reflect 
both current exposure and potential future exposure to ceded liabilities.  Reinsurance and insurance counterparties 
must also meet minimum risk rating criteria.  The Company’s Board of Directors has approved a reinsurance 
policy, which is monitored by the Company’s Audit Committee. 
 
The following table provides a credit risk profile of the Company’s applicable investment assets and amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers.     
 

AAA AA A BBB BB and 
lower Not rated Carrying 

value

Cash and cash equivalents 6,622            8,110            3,130            -                    -                    255               18,117          
Fixed income securities 172,252        136,238        132,626        81,271          202               -                    522,589        
Investment income due and accrued 291               373               983               744               11                 218               2,620            
Due from reinsurers -                    -                    70                 -                    -                    -                    70                 
Due from insureds -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    2,024            2,024            
Due from the Law Society of Ontario -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    7,422            7,422            
Reinsurers' share of provisions for
     unpaid claims and adjustment expenses -                    -                    46,297          -                    -                    -                    46,297          
Other receivables -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    897               897               
Total 179,165        144,721        183,106        82,015          213               10,816          600,036        

December 31, 2019

 
 

AAA AA A BBB BB and 
lower Not rated Carrying 

value

Cash and cash equivalents 466               8,391            -                    -                    -                    1,424            10,281          
Fixed income securities 123,855        139,152        163,824        88,848          972               -                    516,651        
Investment income due and accrued 221               392               1,117            568               13                 219               2,530            
Due from reinsurers -                    -                    631               -                    -                    6                   637               
Due from insureds -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    2,048            2,048            
Due from the Law Society of Ontario -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    8,581            8,581            
Reinsurers' share of provisions for -                    
     unpaid claims and adjustment expenses -                    -                    40,458          -                    -                    48                 40,506          
Other receivables -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    1,052            1,052            

Total 124,542        147,935        206,030        89,416          985               13,378          582,286        

December 31, 2018
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Fixed income securities are rated using a composite of Moody’s, Standard & Poor and Dominion Bond Rating 
Service ratings, and reinsurers are rated using A.M. Best.  The balances in the above tables do not contain any 
amounts that are past due. 

 
c) Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have enough funds available to meet all expected and 
unexpected cash outflow commitments as they fall due.  Under stressed conditions, unexpected cash demands could 
arise primarily from a significant increase in the level of claim payment demands. 
 
To manage its cash flow requirements, the Company has arranged diversified funding sources and maintains a 
significant portion of its invested assets in highly liquid securities such as cash and cash equivalents and 
government bonds (see note 5b).  In addition, the Company has established counterparty exposure limits that aim to 
ensure that exposures are not so large that they may impact the ability to liquidate investments at their market 
value. 

 
Claims liabilities account for the majority of the Company's liquidity risk.  A significant portion of the investment 
portfolio is invested with the primary objective of matching the investment asset cash flows with the expected 
future payments on these claims liabilities.  This portion, referred to as the cash-flow matched investment portfolio, 
consists of fixed income and preferred equity securities that are intended to address the liquidity and cash flow 
needs of the Company as claims are settled.  The remainder of the Company’s overall investment portfolio, the 
available-for-sale portfolio, backs equity and is invested in fixed income securities and equities with the objective 
of preserving capital and achieving an appropriate return consistent with the objectives of the Company.  
 
The following tables summarize the maturities of the assets and contractual obligations by contractual maturity or 
expected cash flow dates (the actual repricing dates may differ from contractual maturity because certain securities 
and debentures have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties) as at:     

 
 

Within One to More than No fixed
one year five years five years maturity Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18,117           -               -               -               18,117           
Investments - designated as FVTPL 86,873           165,104         128,264         367               380,608         
Investments - available-for-sale 56,517           83,587           2,244            159,078         301,426         
Investment income due and accrued 2,620            -               -               -               2,620            
Due from reinsurers 70                 -               -               -               70                 
Due from insureds 2,024            -               -               -               2,024            
Reinsurers’ share of unpaid claims 10,736           23,603           8,992            -               43,331           
Due from Law Society of Ontario 7,422            -               -               -               7,422            
Other receivable 897               -               -               -               897               
Other assets 174               -               -               1,122            1,296            
Total 185,450       272,294       139,500       160,567       757,811       

Liabilities
Provision for unpaid claims 103,984         248,027         104,174         -               456,185         
Due to reinsurers 814               -               -               -               814               
Due to insureds 100               -               -               -               100               
Lease liabilities 803               3,241            10,983           -               15,027           
Expenses due and accrued 3,776            -               -               -               3,776            
Total 109,477       251,268       115,157       -               475,902       

December 31, 2019
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Within One to More than No fixed
one year five years five years maturity Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10,281            -                  -                  -                  10,281            
Investments - designated as FVTPL 25,212            174,772          171,931          404                 372,319          
Investments - available-for-sale 28,686            110,075          5,975              138,391          283,127          
Investment income due and accrued 2,530              -                  -                  -                  2,530              
Due from reinsurers 637                 -                  -                  -                  637                 
Due from insureds 2,048              -                  -                  -                  2,048              
Reinsurers’ share of unpaid claims 9,590              20,652            8,180              2,084              40,506            
Due from Law Society 8,581              -                  -                  -                  8,581              
Other receivable 1,052              -                  -                  -                  1,052              
Other assets 594                 -                  -                  940                 1,534              
Total 89,211            305,499          186,086          141,819          722,615          

Liabilities
Provision for unpaid claims 102,769          243,855          99,622            28,403            474,649          
Due to reinsurers 683                 -                  -                  -                  683                 
Due to insureds 277                 -                  -                  -                  277                 
Expenses due and accrued 3,272              -                  -                  -                  3,272              
Total 107,001          243,855          99,622            28,403            478,881          

December 31, 2018

 
 
d) Market and interest rate risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes 
in market variables such as interest rate, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices.  Due to the nature of the 
Company's business, invested assets and insurance liabilities as well as revenues and expenses are impacted by 
movements in capital markets, interest rates, and to a lesser extent, foreign currency exchange rates.  Accordingly, 
the Company considers these risks together in managing its asset and liability positions and ensuring that risks are 
properly addressed.  These risks are referred to collectively as market price and interest rate risk - the risk of loss 
resulting from movements in market price, interest rate, credit spreads and foreign currency rates. 
 
Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss arising from changes in interest rates.  The Company is exposed 
to interest rate price risk on monetary financial assets and liabilities that have a fixed interest rate and is exposed to 
interest rate cash flow risk on monetary financial assets and liabilities with floating interest rates that are reset as 
market rates change.  
 
For FVTPL assets and other financial assets supporting actuarial liabilities, the Company is exposed to interest rate 
risk when the cash flows from assets and the policy obligations they support are significantly mismatched, as this 
may result in the need to either sell assets to meet policy payments and expenses or reinvest excess asset cash flows 
under unfavourable interest environments.  Bonds designated as available-for-sale generally do not support 
actuarial liabilities.  Changes in fair value, other than foreign exchange rate gains and losses, of available-for-sale 
fixed income securities are recorded to OCI.   

 
The following chart provides the estimated increase (decrease) on the Company’s net investment income, net 
provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses, and after-tax comprehensive income, after an immediate 
parallel increase or decrease of 1% in interest rates as at December 31 across the yield curve in all markets. 
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Net investment 
income

Net provision for unpaid 
claims and adjustment 

expenses
After-tax 

OCI
After-tax 

CI

Interest rates +1% (8,792) (11,136) (1,327) (21,255)
-1% 9,283 11,493 1,366 22,142

Net investment 
income

Net provision for unpaid 
claims and adjustment 

expenses
After-tax 

OCI
After-tax 

CI

Interest rates +1% (9,449) (10,605) (1,797)       (21,851)
-1% 9,954 11,229 1,854        23,037

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

 
 
 
Market price and interest rate risk is managed through established policies and standards of practice that limit 
market price and interest rate risk exposure.  Company-wide market price and interest rate risk limits are 
established and actual positions are monitored against limits.  Target asset mixes, term profiles, and risk limits are 
updated regularly and communicated to portfolio managers.  Actual asset positions are periodically rebalanced to 
within established limits.  
 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity 
indices and the value of individual equity securities.  The Company’s equities are designated as available-for-sale 
and generally do not support actuarial liabilities.  The following chart provides the estimated increase (decrease) on 
the Company’s after-tax OCI, assuming all other variables held constant, after an immediate 10% increase or 
decrease in equity prices as at December 31. 
 

2019 2018

Equity prices +10% 11,692  10,172  
-10% (11,692) (10,172) 

After-tax OCI

 
 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates, in particular when an asset and liability mismatch exists in a different currency 
than the currency in which they are measured.  As the Company does not hold significant liabilities in foreign 
currencies, the resulting currency risk is borne by the Company and forms part of its overall investment income.  
The table below details the effect of a 10% movement of the currency rate against the Canadian dollar as at 
December 31, with all other variables held constant.  
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Currency
Effect on profit (loss) 

before taxes (+/-)
Effect on
OCI (+/-)

Effect on profit (loss) 
before taxes (+/-)

Effect on
OCI (+/-)

US Dollar 26 4,150 8 3,411 
Euro - 1,333 - 1,310 
Other 1 2,115 - 177 

27 7,598 8 4,898 

2019 2018

The Company also manages possible excessive concentration of risk.  Excessive concentrations arise when a 
number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or 
have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly 
affected by changes in economic, political and other conditions.  Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of 
the Company's performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location.  In order to 
avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Company applies specific policies on maintaining a diversified portfolio.  
Identified risk concentrations are managed accordingly.   

The following tables summarize the carrying amounts of financial assets by geographical location of the issuer, as 
at:   

Cash Fixed Investment
and cash income income due %

equivalents securities Equities and accrued Total of total

Canada 17,948 515,300 56,014 2,295 591,557 84.2%
USA 54 1,002             44,986 53 46,095 6.6%
Japan - - 9,743 23 9,766 1.4%
France - - 8,776 - 8,776 1.2%
Others 115                6,287 39,926 249 46,577 6.6%
Total 18,117 522,589 159,445 2,620 702,771 100.0%

December 31, 2019

Cash Fixed Investment
and cash income income due %

equivalents securities Equities and accrued Total of total

Canada 10,197 510,400 49,837 2,178 572,612 85.7%
USA 84 - 35,481 46 35,611 5.3%
France - - 8,886 20 8,906 1.3%
Japan - - 8,064 21 8,085 1.2%
Others - 6,251 36,527 265 43,043 6.5%
Total 10,281 516,651 138,795 2,530 668,257 100.0%

December 31, 2018
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21. CONTINGENT ASSET  
 
In 2013, the Income Tax Act was amended to extend tax exempt status given to certain subsidiaries of Canadian 
municipalities to also include certain subsidiaries of public bodies performing a function of government in Canada.  
Transitional rules were also included to allow applicable taxpayers to refile on this tax exempt basis for their 
taxation years beginning after May 8, 2000.  After completing a detailed and careful evaluation of the applicability 
of the new provisions to the Company, the Company believes that it is probable that a refund claim would be 
successful.  Accordingly, during 2014 the Company began filing as a tax exempt organization for income tax 
purposes, and has requested full retrospective exemption back to its 2001 taxation year.  The income tax payments 
relating to taxation years 2001 onwards total as much as $87,826,061.  The exemption would also give rise to 
significant ongoing future income tax savings, but the Company’s deferred income tax asset would be of nil value. 
 
Canada Revenue Agency did not approve the Company's request for exemption and the Company appealed to the 
Tax Court of Canada. The judgement was released in 2018 and the Company was not successful. The Company 
further appealed to the Federal Court of Appeal with a hearing taking place in October 2019 and the Company is 
awaiting judgment. 
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FOR INFORMATION 

LIBRARYCO INC.  
AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

The Committee recommends the audited Annual Financial Statements for 
LibraryCo Inc. (LibraryCo) for December 31, 2019 be received by Convocation for 
information. 

In 2019, LibraryCo was the central manager of the Ontario county courthouse library 
system in accordance with the objectives, policies and principles established and 
approved by the Law Society, in consultation with the Federation of Ontario Law 
Associations and the Toronto Lawyers’ Association, all shareholders of the organization. 
With the objective of evolving the provision of legal information and library services for 
licensees of the Law Society, in late 2019, the shareholders of LibraryCo approved the 
transition of LibraryCo to the Legal Information and Resource Network (LIRN).  At the 
beginning of 2020, the governance structure shifted from shareholder appointed 
directors to a new skills-based board that includes independent board members 
nominated to provide specified knowledge and skills that would best support the future 
decision-making of the LIRN.  

LibraryCo was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Law Society. LibraryCo had, and LIRN 
continues to have, two classes of shares: 100 common shares and 100 special shares. 
The Law Society held and continues to hold all of the common shares outstanding. Of 
the special shares outstanding, 25 were and are still held by the Toronto Lawyers’ 
Association and 75 continue to be held by the Federation of Ontario Law Associations.  

LibraryCo was fully funded by the Law Society through the lawyer’s annual fee. The 
LibraryCo component of the annual fee for 2019 was $191 per lawyer. Grants to the 48 
county libraries comprised 87% of LibraryCo expenditures with the balance being 
centralized expenses such as access to online research products. 

The Law Society provided administrative services to LibraryCo under an administrative 
services agreement. 

As the successor to LibraryCo, the Directors of LIRN completed the required 
governance procedures previously addressed by the old corporation and the 
Unanimous Shareholders Agreement. These financial statements are the last prepared 
by LibraryCo and have been approved by the LIRN Board.  They received a clean audit 
opinion from the auditors appointed by the Law Society, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 
with no issues or exceptions identified. 

Audit & Finance Committee – Report to Convocation 
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LibraryCo Inc.  

Management Discussion & Analysis 

December 31, 2019 

Results of Operations 

Results for the year identify an excess of revenues over expenses of $299,000 compared to an 
excess of expenses over revenues of $64,000 in 2018.  The 2019 budget projected the use of 
$151,000 from the fund balance of the General Fund to finance expenditures.  

The excess of revenues over expenses for the year has increased the General Fund balance to 
$508,000 and the Reserve Fund balance is unchanged at $500,000. 

The main reason for the excess of revenues over expenses was unspent contingency funding of 
$300,000 intended for the transition from LibraryCo Inc. (LibraryCo) to LIRN Inc. 

In late 2019, a new structure that governs the delivery of library services and legal information to 
Ontario licensees was approved by the Law Society of Ontario (Law Society), the Federation of 
Law Associations of Ontario (FOLA) and the Toronto Lawyer’s Association (TLA).  LibraryCo 
Inc. will be renamed LIRN Inc. (Legal Information and Resource Network).  LIRN Inc. will have 
an independent skills-based board of directors who will focus on the modernization of the 
delivery of legal information and library services. 

LibraryCo’s most notable expense, the grants to county libraries, was in line with budget and 
increased from 2018. 

Statement of Revenues and Expenses – Revenues 

The Law Society grant totalled $8.1 million (2018 - $7.9 million). 

Statement of Revenues and Expenses – Expenses 

The expense for administrative services was not charged by the Law Society in 2019 (2018 - 
$305,000).  

Electronic products and services expenses of $353,000 increased slightly over 2018. 

County and district law libraries grants of $6.9 million (2018 - $6.8 million) are detailed by county 
in the notes to the financial statements and include both the annual grants approved as part of 
the budget process and also special needs grants.  All counties received increases in 2019. 

Balance Sheet and Statement of Changes in Fund Balances 

The General Fund accounts for the delivery, management and administration of library services. 
The General Fund has increased by the excess of revenues over expenses of $299,000 to 
$508,000.  LibraryCo Inc.’s budget for 2020 envisages using $89,000 of the fund balance to 
finance operations.  
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The Reserve Fund has an unchanged balance of $500,000.  In accordance with Board policy, it 
comprises a general component of $200,000, a capital and special needs component of 
$150,000, and a staffing and severance component of $150,000.  
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
PwC Tower, 18 York Street, Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 0B2 
T: +1 416 863 1133, F: +1 416 365 8215 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Board of Directors of LibraryCo Inc. 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of LibraryCo Inc. (the Organization) as at December 31, 2019 and the results of its operations and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations. 

What we have audited 
The Organization’s financial statements comprise: 

 the balance sheet as at December 31, 2019;

 the statement of revenues and expenses for the year then ended;

 the statement of changes in fund balances for the year then ended;

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Organization in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information, 
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, included in the annual report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Organization’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Organization or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Organization’s financial reporting 
process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Organization’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Organization to
cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario 
April 28, 2020
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LibraryCo Inc.
Balance Sheet
Stated in dollars 
As at December 31

2019 2018 

Assets 

Current Assets 

Cash 1,009,725 676,471 
Accounts Receivable 25,355 26,703 
Prepaid Expenses 31,604 30,414 

Total Assets 1,066,684 733,588 

Liabilities, Share Capital & Fund Balances 

Current Liabilities 

Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities (note 4 and 6) 58,487 24,890 
Total Liabilities 58,487 24,890 

Share Capital & Fund Balances 

Share Capital (notes 1 and 5) 200 200 
General Fund (note 2) 507,997 208,498 
Reserve Fund (note 2) 500,000 500,000 
Total Share Capital & Fund Balances 1,008,197 708,698 

Total Liabilities, Share Capital & Fund Balances 1,066,684 733,588 

Subsequent Event (note 9) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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LibraryCo Inc.
Statement of Revenues and Expenses
Stated in dollars 
For the year ended December 31

2019 2018 

Revenues 

Law Society of Ontario grant (note 6) 8,057,936 7,899,937 
Interest income 18,219 12,790 
Total Revenues 8,076,155 7,912,727 

Expenses 

Head Office Administration 

Administration - 305,000
Professional fees 24,201 76,881 
Other (note 7) 13,891 13,529 
Total Head Office / Administration Expenses 38,092 395,410 

Law Libraries - Centralized Purchases 

Electronic products and services 352,668 342,390 
Group benefits and insurance 338,052 333,427 
Other (note 8) 103,593 110,293 
Total Law Libraries - Centralized Purchases 794,313 786,110 

County and District Law Libraries Grants (note 10)  6,944,251  6,794,792 
Total County and District Law Libraries Expenses 7,738,564 7,580,902 

Total Expenses 7,776,656 7,976,312 

Excess of Revenues over Expenses (Expenses over 
Revenues) for the Year 299,499 (63,585) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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LibraryCo Inc.
Statement of Changes in Fund Balances
Stated in dollars 
for the year ended December 31

2019 2018 

General Fund 
Reserve 

Fund Total 

Balances - beginning of year 208,498 500,000 708,498 772,083 
Excess of Revenues over Expenses 
(expenses over Revenues) for the year 299,499 - 299,499 (63,585) 
Balances - end of year 507,997 500,000 1,007,997 708,498 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these 
financial statements 
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LibraryCo Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
Stated in dollars 
For the year ended December 31

2019 2018 

Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities 

Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) for the 
year 299,499 (63,585) 

Net change in non-cash operating working capital items: 
Accounts receivable 1,348 15,319 
Prepaid expenses (1,190) 1 
Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities 33,597 2,591 

Cash sourced (used) in operating activities 333,254 (45,674) 

Investing activities 

Short-term investments - 403,167

Net inflow of cash - during the year 333,254 357,493 

Cash - beginning of year 676,471 318,978 

Cash - end of year 1,009,725 676,471 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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LibraryCo Inc. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 

1. General

LibraryCo Inc. (the Organization) was 
established to develop policies, 
procedures, guidelines and standards 
for the delivery of county law library 
services and legal information across 
Ontario and to administer funding from 
the Law Society of Ontario (the Society). 

In late 2019, a new structure that 
governs the delivery of library services 
and legal information to Ontario lawyers 
and paralegals was approved by the 
Society, the Federation of Law 
Associations of Ontario (FOLA) and the 
Toronto Lawyer’s Association (TLA).  
LIRN Inc. (Legal Information and 
Resource Network) will replace the 
Organization in managing the 48 law 
libraries throughout the province in 
2020.  

The Organization has two classes of 
shares: Common shares and Special 
shares.  The Society holds all of the 100 
Common shares outstanding.  Of the 
100 special shares outstanding, 25 are 
held by TLA and 75 are held by FOLA.  
In 2019, the Society may appoint up to 
four directors, FOLA may appoint up to 
three directors and TLA may appoint 
one director. 

The organization is not subject to federal 
or provincial incomes taxes.   

Under an Administrative Services 
Agreement, the Society provides the 
administrative functions of the 

Organization.  No fee has been charged 
in the current year.  

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the 
accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations (ASNPO) set out in Part III 
of the Chartered Professional 
Accountants of Canada Handbook – 
Accounting. 

General and Reserve Funds 

The organization follows the restricted 
fund method. 

The General Fund accounts for the 
delivery, management and 
administration of library services.  The 
Reserve Fund is maintained to assist 
the Organization’s cash flows and act as 
a contingency fund.  In accordance with 
a Board resolution, the Reserve Fund 
will be maintained at a minimum of 
$500,000, comprising a general 
component of $200,000, a capital and 
special needs component of $150,000, 
and a staffing and severance 
component of $150,000; any expenses 
of this fund that would reduce the fund 
balance below $500,000 should be 
replenished in the following year.   
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Cash 

Cash consists of amounts on deposit 
with the Organization’s financial 
institution.  

Revenue Recognition 

Grants are recorded as revenue in the 
General Fund in the fiscal year in which 
they are received.   
Investment income is recognized when 
receivable, if the amount can be 
reasonably estimated.   

Grants Paid 

Grants paid recognized in the fiscal year 
in which they are paid.  

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with ASNPO requires 
management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of 
revenue and expenditures during the 
year.  Actual results could differ from 
such estimates.  

3. Financial Instruments

The Organization’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities are classified and 
measured as follows:  

4. Accounts Payable and Accrued

Liabilities

There are no amounts payable for 
government remittances.  

5. Share Capital

Authorized 
Unlimited number of Common shares 
Unlimited number of Special shares 

Issued 
2019 2018 

100 Common shares $100 $100 
100 Special shares 100 100 

$200 $200 

6. Related Party Transactions

The Society provided the Organization 
with a grant of $8,100,000 (2018 - 
$7,900,000) during the year.  
The Society provides administrative 
services to the Organization (note 1) as 
well as certain other services and 
publications.  The total amount billed by 
the Society for 2019 was $32,378 (2018 
- $341,712).

Included in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities are amounts due to 
the Society of $5,768 (2018 - $8,580). 

Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity 
Company (LAWPRO) provides 
professional liability insurance to 
lawyers in Ontario and is also a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Society.  There 
were no transactions with LAWPRO 
during 2019 or 2018.  

Asset / Liability Measurement 

Cash Fair value 
Accounts receivable Amortized cost 
Accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities 

Amortized cost 
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These transactions are entered in the 
ordinary course of business and are 
measured at fair value. 

7. Other Expenses – Head

Office/Administration

Included in these expenses are costs 
associated with administration by the 
Society, directors’ and officers’ 
insurance, Board of Directors’ meetings 
and other miscellaneous items.  

8. Other Expenses – County and

District Law Libraries –

Centralized Purchases

Included in these expenses are costs 
associated with continuing education 
bursaries, conference bursaries, the 
Conference for Ontario Law 
Associations’ Libraries, document 
delivery, publications, committee 
meetings and miscellaneous items.  

9. Subsequent Event

Subsequent to year-end, the outbreak of 
the novel strain of coronavirus, 
specifically identified as “COVID-19”, 
has resulted in governments worldwide 
enacting emergency measures to 
combat the spread of the virus.  On 
March 17, 2020, the Province of Ontario 
declared a state of emergency.  These 
measures, which include the 
implementation of travel bans, self-
imposed quarantine periods and social 
distancing, have caused material 
disruption to businesses globally 
resulting in an economic slowdown.    
The Organization may be negatively 
impacted by the timing and/or amount of 
future grant receipts; however, the 

duration and impact of the COVID-19 
outbreak is unknown at this time.  It is 
not possible to reliably estimate the 
length and severity of these 
developments and the impact on the 
financial results and condition of the 
organization in future periods. 

10. County and District Law Libraries

Grants

These grants represent the quarterly 
distribution of funds to the 48 County 
and District Law Libraries and any 
capital and special needs grants.  The 
grants are distributed in accordance with 
policies and procedures established by 
the Organization’s Board of Directors.  
The following page contains individual 
law library grants were distributed by the 
Organization during 2019 and 2018. 
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Law Association 2019 2018 Law Association 2019 2018 

Algoma $146,334 $142,484 Muskoka 69,489 68,126 

Brant 107,964 105,847 Nipissing 92,837 91,017 

Bruce 64,057 59,836 Norfolk 76,898 74,410 

Carleton 665,352 662,305 Northumberland 89,495 94,513 

Cochrane 52,310 51,284 Oxford 76,606 75,103 

Dufferin 50,170 49,186 Parry Sound 47,343 46,415 

Durham 164,839 162,607 Peel 320,162 313,884 

Elgin 88,125 80,648 Perth 58,999 57,842 

Essex 302,681 296,746 Peterborough 142,812 140,011 

Frontenac 142,910 141,107 Prescott & Russell 14,976 15,682 

Grey 72,302 70,904 Rainy River 29,043 28,474 

Haldimand 32,191 31,560 Renfrew County 133,730 131,108 

Halton 150,213 147,268 Simcoe Country 151,202 148,237 

Hamilton 488,352 474,084 Stormont Dundas & Glengarry 83,529 81,891 

Hastings 91,331 89,540 Sudbury 201,744 198,788 

Huron 81,715 80,113 Temiskaming 47,532 45,620 

Kenora District 93,967 93,124 Thunder Bay 183,422 180,826 

Kent 78,874 74,386 Toronto 633,346 620,928 

Lambton 82,880 79,098 Victoria-Haliburton 94,348 92,498 

Lanark 42,290 41,461 Waterloo 269,534 253,051 

Leeds & Grenville 77,330 75,814 Welland County 101,068 99,087 

Lennox & Addington 28,639 28,077 Wellington 81,558 79,958 

Lincoln 192,170 188,402 York 250,047 245,145 

Manitoulin 2,733 2,680 $6,944,251 $6,794,792 

Middlesex 394,802 383,617 
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 FOR INFORMATION 

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 

The Audit & Finance Committee recommends the financial statements of the Law 

Society for the first quarter of 2020 be received by Convocation for information. 

This is part of the quarterly financial reporting schedule to Convocation. These interim 

statements convey the performance of the Law Society before the end of the year. 

Unlike annual statements, interim statements are not audited. 

These financial statements present the financial position and operations of the Society 

and include the General Funds (or operating funds) and a number of special purpose or 

restricted funds. 

 The Compensation Fund is restricted by the Law Society Act

 The Errors and Omissions Insurance Fund (E&O Fund), the Capital Allocation

Fund, the Invested in Capital and Intangible Assets Fund, the County Libraries

Fund and the “Other Restricted Funds” (Repayable Allowance Fund, Special

Projects Fund and Parental Leave Assistance Fund) are restricted by

Convocation.

The Financial Statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020 comprise the 

following statements: 

 Balance Sheet

 Statement of Revenues and Expenses and Change in Fund Balances,

detailing results of operations for lawyers and paralegals

 Schedule of Restricted Funds

Supplemental information include Schedules of Revenues and Expenses for the Lawyer 

and Paralegal General Funds, the Compensation Fund and the E&O Fund.  

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic started to be felt in the middle of March, with the 

Province of Ontario’s Declaration of Emergency on March 17, 2020.  The Law Society 

transitioned to work from home status on March 16, 2020. With the timing of these 

events, it is early to see a notable impact on these financial statements as a result of the 

COVID-19 pandemic.  
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FOR INFORMATION 

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 

Financial Statement Highlights 

General Fund 

The lawyer General Fund shows an excess of expenses over revenues of $2.4 million 

at the end of the first quarter of 2020, compared to a budget that planned for excess 

expenses over revenues of $3.2 million for the same period.  The paralegal General 

Fund experienced $632,000 in excess expenses over revenues at the end of the first 

quarter of 2020 compared to a budgeted excess of expenses over revenues of 

$470,000 for the same period.   

The main reasons for the positive financial performance compared to budget within the 

General Funds is driven by some residual staffing vacancies, the timing of expenses 

such as library purchases, bencher remuneration and expenses, and unused 

contingency. This underspending was partially offset by notable declines in the fair 

value of the long-term investments and lower CPD program revenues as a result of 

program cancellations in March due to COVID-19. It is anticipated that some of the CPD 

revenue loss will be recovered in the latter part of the year. 

The 2020 annual budget planned for expenditures to exceed revenues in the General 

Funds. The lawyer General Fund planned for the use of $5.1 million in fund balances 

and the allocation of $1.2 million from the accumulated surplus investment income in 

the Errors & Omissions Fund (E&O Fund) to fund operations. Similarly, the paralegal 

General Fund budget for 2020 incorporated the use of $2.4 million of the paralegal 

General Fund balance to fund operations. 

With the planned use of fund balances as a source of funding for 2020 expenditures, 

the decrease in the lawyer General Fund balance from $26.1 million to $23.6 million 

was expected.  The fund balance is within the benchmarks of the Law Society’s fund 
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balance management policy.  The paralegal General Fund balance saw a planned 

decrease from $1.8 million to $1.2 million. 

Restricted Funds 

The Law Society’s restricted funds report an excess of expenses over revenues of $1.4 

million in the first quarter of 2020, compared to excess revenues over expenses of $3.8 

million in 2019.  The key components are:  

a. Excess of revenues over expenses of $577,000 (2019 – excess of revenues 

over expenses of $3.5 million) in the Compensation Fund (further explained 

below);  

b. Excess of expenses over revenues of $1.6 million (2019 – excess of 

revenues over expenses of $683,000) in the E&O Fund due primarily to 

unrealized losses on long-term investments; 

c. amortization of $550,000 in the Invested in Capital & Intangible Assets Fund  

 

Compensation Fund 

 

After a period of unusually high claims experience in the years prior to 2017, through 

the 2018 budget, the Society implemented a three year plan to replenish the lawyer pool 

of the Compensation Fund by including an annual $5 million provision above the 

amount for routine claims to restore the Fund’s financial stability. In addition to this 

deliberate provision intended to restore the fund balance with a budgeted excess of 

revenues over expenses of $5 million in 2020, the budget included a provision for 

claims (unpaid grants) of $4.8 million for lawyers. The prorated budget for the provision 

for claims for the first quarter was $1.2 million compared to an actual decrease in the 

provision of $187,000. The decrease in the provision was driven by the closure of 19 

claims that totaled $1.8M in the quarter that required no payment.  

 

The excess of revenues over expenses for the first quarter is primarily due to annual 

fees raised to replenish the fund balance of approximately $1.3 million along with 

Convocation - Audit & Finance Committee Report

171



favourable results of $1.4 million related to better than expected claims experience, 

offset by unrealized losses on investments of $2.5 million in the first quarter of 2020. 

 

The lawyer pool of the Compensation Fund ended the quarter with a fund balance of 

$22.6 million, an increase of $800,000 compared to the $21.8 million balance at the end 

of 2019.  The lawyer Compensation Fund balance is now just above the minimum 

benchmark under the Fund Balance Management Policy, with the policy to be reviewed 

as part of the 2021 budget process. 

 

The paralegal pool of the Compensation Fund balance is $726,000 as at March 31, 

2020 compared to $768,000 at the end of the first quarter in 2019. 

 

E&O Fund 

The E&O Fund balance decreased to $52.9 million (2019 - $55.5 million) after the 

transfer of $1.2 million in cumulative excess investment income to the General Fund in 

the prior year as budgeted and a further reduction due to a decline in the fair market 

value of the E&O long term investments. As in 2019, a transfer of $1.2 million is 

budgeted for 2020 but has not been completed yet. 

 

Statement of Revenues and Expenses and Change in Fund Balances 

 

Revenues 

 

Annual Fees 

Annual fees recognized in the first quarter of $23.1 million have decreased by $1 million 

from 2019 but are in line with the 2020 budget. The 2020 budget incorporated an annual 

fee reduction for lawyers and paralegals of $135 and $109, respectively, and was 

partially offset by an increase of 1,400 in the number of full-fee equivalent paying 

lawyers and an increase of 100 in the number of full-fee equivalent paying paralegals. 

Annual fee revenue is recognized on a monthly basis. 
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Insurance Premium and Levies 

Insurance premiums and levies have increased from $24.3 million in the first quarter of 

2019 to $24.9 million in 2019 in line with the numbers of insured lawyers. LAWPRO’s 

base premium and transaction levy rates are unchanged from 2019. 

Professional Development and Competence 

Professional development and competence revenues comprise income from the 

licensing process and continuing professional development (CPD). Total year to date 

revenues of $4.5 million are below last year’s actuals of $5.8 million at March 2019 and 

the current year-to-date budget of $5.1 million.  

Lawyer licensing process revenues of $3.1 million are in line with budget and less than 

the $3.3 million recorded last year at the end of the first quarter. The total Licensing 

Process fee including the fees for the initial application, the Barrister and Solicitor 

Licensing Examinations and the Call to the Bar, is $4,710, unchanged from last year. 

The lower revenue results in the first quarter of 2020 compared to the same period last 

year is attributable to the prior year having slightly more applicants than typical in the 

first three months of the year and the staggering of payment deadlines to coincide with 

the timing of activities in response to COVID-19. With the number of candidates waiting 

to be licenced not having declined and in light of the adjustment to payment time lines, it 

is anticipated that licensing process revenue for the year will not be affected materially, 

but that it is the  timing of revenue recognition that will be delayed to later in the year.  

Paralegal licensing process revenues of $580,000 were in line with budget and 2019 

actual results for the first quarter. 

CPD revenue totals $879,000 at the end of March 2020 which is both lower than the 

2020 budget of $1.5 million and last year’s actual revenue of $1.7 million. Due to the 

COVID-19 related restrictions on large group gatherings, four CPD programs scheduled 

for March were cancelled, including one of the larger summits. With the cancellations, 

over $300,000 in registration payments received for March programs were not 

recognized as revenue and remain reported as part of the Society’s deferred revenue.  
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In addition, approximately $110,000 in refunds were issued in the month of March. The 

CPD team is developing plans to mitigate losses for the remainder of the year including 

increasing the number of webcasts and rescheduling summits to the fall with a modified 

delivery model.   

Change in Fair Value of Investments 

The change in fair value of investments shows total unrealized losses of $5.6 million 

compared to gains of $1.9 million in the same quarter in 2019, mirroring market 

conditions due to increased economic uncertainty as a result of COVID-19. The change 

in fair value is not included in budget projections. Investment income of $531,000 is 

comparable to last year and close to budget. 

Other Revenues 

Other revenues totalling $2.8 million is less than budget and lower than 2019 actuals of 

$3.6 million by a similar amount. The notable components of other income are late fees, 

ordered costs, Ontario Report revenue, pre-authorized payment plan fees and catering 

sales. The variance is primarily related to the deferral of the application of the annual 

fee late payment fees which are typically charged in March and budgeted at $800,000.  

The referenced late fee was deferred to provide licensees with some temporary relief as 

a result of COVID-19.  

 

Expenses 

Professional Regulation, Tribunals and Compliance 

Professional Regulation, Tribunals and Compliance expenses totalling $8.0 million are 

higher in comparison to the 2019 amount of $7.2 million due to the filling of previously 

vacant staff positions, but are less than budget by $800,000 due to residual vacancies, 

particularly in Case Management and Litigation Services. Some vacant positions within 

these areas were filled in the first quarter of the year.   
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Professional Development and Competence 

Total Professional Development and Competence expenses totalling $7.6 million are 

slightly less than the 2019 amount of $7.8 million and are less than budget by $725,000. 

The underspending is based on a few factors. With the deferral of CPD programs in 

March 2020, there were offsetting savings in expenses as venue, audio visual, catering, 

and material production costs of approximately $225,000 were not incurred.   

Corporate Services 

Total Corporate Services expenses of $7.4 million are slightly lower than the 2019 

amount of $7.6 million and less than budget by $415,000. The key drivers for the 

difference between budget and actual are reduced recruitment costs and lower 

consulting fees. 

Convocation, Policy and Outreach 

Convocation, Policy and Outreach expenses are $1.6 million compared to $1.9 million 

for the first quarter in 2019 and are less than budget by $1.2 million.  The underlying 

variances from budget relate to bencher remuneration and expenses, the unused 

contingency, and underspending related to policy, media relations and communications 

attributable to some staffing vacancies, and the timing of expenditures related to 

stakeholder engagement and other program expenses.  

 
Balance Sheet 
 
Cash & Short-Term Investments 

The total of cash and short-term investments at the end of the first quarter is $92.6 

million (2019 - $99.5 million). Of this amount, $21.5 million (2019 - $16.7 million) 

pertains to the Compensation Fund and is held in separate accounts. It should be noted 

that even with the recent decisions to defer the annual fee pre-authorized payment 

withdrawals for April and May and the late payment fee until June 2020, the Law 

Society has sufficient working capital on hand to discharge its short and medium term 

obligations.  
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Portfolio Investments 

Portfolio investments are shown at fair value of $59.1 million (2019 - $63.6 million) and 

reflect unrealized losses of $5.6 million in the first quarter of 2020 related to current 

economic uncertainty. Of the total portfolio investments, $26.0 million (2019 - $27.5 

million) pertains to the Compensation Fund with total unrealized losses of $2.4 million in 

the first quarter of 2020. Under the Investment Policy, the benchmark Canadian equity 

component is 30% and the fixed income component is 70%.  

Loan Receivable 

The loan receivable of $1.4 million (2019 - $1.2 million) represents the Law Society’s 

participation in the subordinated loan used to fund CanLII’s acquisition of Lexum in 

2018. The interest rate is 4.74%. The term of the loan is 5 years. Pursuant to the loan 

agreement, the Law Society is committed to pay $280,000 annually for three years, with 

next year being the last of the remaining annual balance of sale payments to the 

vendors of Lexum.  

Deferred Revenue 

Deferred revenue is made up of annual fees, licensing process revenues and insurance 

premiums which are recognized over the full year. The balance at the end of the first 

quarter of 2020 is $141.6 million (2019 - $143.3 million). The decrease in the lawyer and 

paralegal annual fees for 2020 has resulted in a lower deferred revenue balance.  

Provision for Unpaid Grants/Claims 

The provision for unpaid grants represents the estimate for unpaid grants and inquiries 

against the Compensation Fund, supplemented by the costs for processing these 

grants. The current balance of $17.1 million has decreased from $20.3 million in 2019 

as the Fund continues to process claims related to some large alleged defalcations. The 

paralegal Compensation Fund provision for unpaid grants comprises $129,000 of the 

total Compensation Fund provision for unpaid grants. 
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Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
Balance Sheet 

Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
As at March 31 2020 2019

Assets
Current Assets

1 Cash 63,291                45,397
2 Short-term investments 29,311                54,103
3 Accounts receivable 72,309                69,689
4 Prepaid expenses 82,791                82,077
5 Total current assets 247,702            251,266

6 Investment in subsidiaries 35,642                35,642
7 Portfolio investments 59,107                63,599
8 Loan receivable 1,381                    1,162
9 Capital assets 8,180                    8,543

10 Intangible assets 3,058                    4,194

11 Total Assets 355,070            364,406

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Current Liabilities

12 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9,261                    9,887
13 Deferred revenue 141,572            143,280
14 Due to LAWPRO 64,140                65,096
15 Total current liabilities 214,973            218,263

16 Provision for unpaid grants/claims 17,053                20,345
17 Unclaimed trust funds 5,723                    5,476
18 Lease obligations 675                          554
19 Total Liabilities 238,424            244,638

Fund Balances
General funds

20 Lawyers 23,588                27,474
21 Paralegals 1,202                    3,068

Restricted funds
22 Compensation - lawyers 22,617                15,157
23 Compensation - paralegals 726                          768
24 Errors and omissions insurance 52,891                55,255
25 Capital allocation 3,116                    4,318
26 Invested in capital and intangible assets 11,238                12,736
27 County libraries 146                          104
28 Other 1,122                       888
29 Total Fund Balances 116,646            119,768

30 Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 355,070            364,406
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Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
Statement of Revenues and Expenses and Change in Fund Balances

Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

General Fund General Fund
Lawyer Paralegal Restricted Funds Total

Revenues
1 Annual fees 16,321       17,112   1,323      1,461  5,466      5,583  23,110     24,156   

2 Insurance premiums and levies - - -              - 24,872     24,257   24,872     24,257   

3 Professional development and competence 3,850         5,025  684         807  -              - 4,534      5,832  

4 Investment income 140            177  18           22  373         360  531         559  

5 Change in fair value of investments (1,295)       508  (164) 52 (4,140)     1,322  (5,599)     1,882  

6 Other 2,065         3,074  391 543         385         32  2,841      3,649  

7 Total revenues 21,081       25,896   2,252      2,885  26,956     31,554   50,289     60,335   

Expenses
8 Professional regulation, tribunals and compliance 7,073         6,429  897         815  -              - 7,970      7,244  

9 Professional development and competence 6,765         6,938  834         844  -              - 7,599      7,782  

10 Corporate services 6,563         6,730  836         893  -              - 7,399      7,623  

11 Convocation, policy and outreach 1,494         1,713  153         182  -              - 1,647      1,895  

12 Services to members and public 1,609         1,675  164         157  -              - 1,773      1,832  

13 Restricted - - -              - 28,366     27,707   28,366     27,707   

14 Total expenses 23,504       23,485   2,884      2,891  28,366     27,707   54,754     54,083   

15 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) (2,423)       2,411  (632) (6) (1,410)     3,847  (4,465)     6,252  

16 Fund balances, beginning of year 26,106       25,138   1,834      3,074  93,171     85,304   121,111   113,516   

17 Interfund transfers (95) (75) -              - 95           75  -              - 

18 Fund balances, end of period 23,588       27,474   1,202      3,068  91,856     89,226   116,646   119,768   
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Finance Department
2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
Schedule of Restricted Funds
Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 2019

Compensation Fund

Lawyer Paralegal

1 Fund balances, beginning of year 21,818       948            54,445           2,927             11,778           189 1,066             93,171             85,304  

Revenues

2 Annual fees 2,363         20              - 1,121             - 1,962             - 5,466               5,583 

3 Insurance premiums and levies - - 24,872           - - - - 24,872             24,257  

4 Investment income 219            28              126 - - - - 373 360 

5 Change in fair value of investments (2,183)        (277)           (1,680)            - - - - (4,140)             1,322 

6 Other 342            43              - - - - - 385 32 

7 Total revenues 741            (186)           23,318           1,121             - 1,962             - 26,956             31,554  

8 Total expenses (58) 36 24,872           932 540 2,005             39 28,366             27,707  

9 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) 799            (222)           (1,554)            189 (540) (43) (39) (1,410)             3,847 

10 Interfund transfers - - - - - - 95 95 75 

11 Fund balances, end of period 22,617       726            52,891           3,116             11,238           146 1,122             91,856             89,226  

Errors and 
omissions 
insurance

Capital 
allocation

Invested in 
capital and 
intangible 

assets
County 
libraries

Other 
restricted

Total 
Restricted 

funds Total

Convocation - Audit & Finance Committee Report

179



Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
Lawyers and Paralegals General Fund
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses 
Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 Budget 2019
Actual YTD  Variance Actual 

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 17,644  17,567  77  18,573  
2 Professional development and competence 4,534  5,140  (606) 5,832  
3 Investment income 158  194  (36) 199  
4 Change in fair value of investments (1,459) - (1,459) 560  
5 Other 2,456  3,091  (635) 3,617  
6 Total revenues 23,333  25,992  (2,659) 28,781  

EXPENSES
7 Professional regulation, tribunals and compliance 7,970  8,779  809  7,244  
8 Professional development and competence 7,599  8,323  724  7,782  
9 Corporate services 7,399  7,814  415  7,623  

10 Convocation, policy and outreach 1,647  2,874  1,227  1,895  
11 Services to members and public 1,773  1,902  129  1,832  
12 Total expenses 26,388  29,692  3,304  26,376  

13 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) (3,055) (3,700) 645  2,405  
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Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
General Fund - Lawyers
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses
Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 Budget 2019
Actual  YTD Variance Actual 

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 16,321  16,126  195  17,112  
2 Professional development and competence 3,850  4,343  (493)  5,025  
3 Investment income 140  172  (32)  177  
4 Change in fair value of investments (1,295)  - (1,295)  508  
5 Other 2,065  2,707  (642)  3,074  
6 Total revenues 21,081  23,348  (2,267)  25,896  

EXPENSES
7 Professional regulation, tribunals and compliance 7,073  7,828  755  6,429  
8 Professional development and competence 6,765  7,425  660  6,938  
9 Corporate services 6,563  7,009  446  6,730  

10 Convocation, policy and outreach 1,494  2,589  1,095  1,713  
11 Services to members and public 1,609  1,727  118  1,675  
12 Total expenses 23,504  26,578  3,074  23,485  

13 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) (2,423)       (3,230)       807             2,411        
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Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
General Fund - Paralegals
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses 
Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 Budget 2019
Actual  YTD Variance Actual 

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 1,323  1,441  (118) 1,461  
2 Professional development and competence 684  797  (113) 807  
3 Investment income 18  22  (4) 22  
4 Change in fair value of investments (164) - (164) 52  
5 Other 391  384  7  543  
6 Total revenues 2,252  2,644  (392) 2,885  

EXPENSES
7 Professional regulation, tribunals and compliance 897  951  54  815  
8 Professional development and competence 834  898  64  844  
9 Corporate services 836  805  (31) 893  

10 Convocation, policy and outreach 153  285  132  182  
11 Services to members and public 164  175  11  157  
12 Total expenses 2,884  3,114  230  2,891  

13 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) (632) (470) (162) (6)
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Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
Compensation Fund
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses
Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 Budget 2019
Actual  YTD Variance Actual 

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 2,383  2,367  16  2,402  
2 Investment income 247  244  3 229  
3 Change in fair value of investments (2,460)  - (2,460)  767  
4 Recoveries 385  87  298  32  
5 Total revenues 555  2,698  (2,143)  3,430  

EXPENSES
6 Provision for unpaid grants (187)  2,489  2,676  (331)  
7 Administrative 165  194  29  249  
8 Total expenses (22)  2,683  2,705  (82)  

9 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) 577           15             562           3,512        
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Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
Compensation Fund - Lawyers
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses
Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 Budget 2019
Actual  YTD Variance Actual 

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 2,363  2,346  17  2,380  
2 Investment income 219  244  (25)  203  
3 Change in fair value of investments (2,183)  - (2,183)  681  
4 Recoveries 342  50  292  28  
5 Total revenues 741  2,640  (1,899)  3,292  

EXPENSES
6 Provision for unpaid grants (211)  2,460  2,671  (325)  
7 Administrative 153  173  20  222  
8 Total expenses (58)  2,633  2,691  (103)  

9 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) 799           7 792           3,395        
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Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO 
Compensation Fund - Paralegals
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses
Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 Budget 2019
Actual  YTD Variance Actual 

REVENUES
1 Annual fees 20  21  (1) 22  
2 Investment income 28  - 28  26  
3 Change in fair value of investments (277)  - (277)  86  
4 Recoveries 43  37  6 4 
5 Total revenues (186)  58  (244)  138  

EXPENSES
6 Provision for unpaid grants 24  29  5 (6) 
7 Administrative 12  21  9 27  
8 Total expenses 36  50  14  21  

9 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) (222)          8 (230)          117           
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Finance Department 2020-04-30

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
Errors and Omissions Insurance Fund
Schedule of Revenues and Expenses and Change in Fund Balance
Unaudited 
Stated in thousands of dollars
For the three months ended March 31

2020 2019
Actual Actual

REVENUES
1 Insurance premiums and levies 24,872       24,257       
2 Investment income 126            131            
3 Change in fair value of investments (1,680) 555            
4 Total revenues 23,318       24,943       

EXPENSES
5 Expenses - 3 
6 Insurance 24,872       24,257       
7 Total expenses 24,872       24,260       

8 Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) (1,554) 683            

9 Interfund transfers - - 

10 Change in fund balance (1,554) 683            

11 Fund balance, beginning of year 54,445       54,572       

12 Fund balance, end of period 52,891       55,255       
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FOR INFORMATION 

PERFORMANCE OF INVESTMENT MANAGER 

The Committee recommends that Convocation receive the periodic report from 
AON on the performance of the Society’s long-term investments for the twelve 
months to December 31, 2019 for information. 

The Society’s Investment Advisor (AON) and Investment Manager (Foyston Gordon & 
Payne) attended the Committee meeting to discuss the current financial market and the 
approach going forward for the Society. 

Investment Policy 

The Society’s long-term investments are managed in compliance with the Society's 
Investment Policy (follows at Appendix A) as approved by Convocation. Under the 
Investment Policy, the Audit & Finance Committee shall periodically report to Convocation 
on investment returns. 

The Policy notes a conservative investment philosophy and is reflective of the nature of 
the Society as a not-for-profit organization, including the tax implications of investment 
returns that could be viewed as excessive and the nature of the underlying reserves, which 
ultimately are used to fund operations. Historically, the Society’s risk appetite has been 
low. The philosophy underlying the Investment Policy, as assessed by past Committees 
for the Society, is of the belief that: 

 superior rates of return over longer time periods will be achieved through
active management of a broadly diversified portfolio of high quality securities

 high-risk securities, which could lead to excessive volatility and the
possibility of a reduction in the capital value of the portfolios in a depressed
market, are to be avoided

 extreme positions in either individual securities or in an asset class are to be
avoided.

As set out in the Investment Policy, the Investment Manager’s benchmarks are: 

a) By asset class to outperform the appropriate market index return
b) By benchmark portfolio to outperform a static benchmark portfolio consisting

of the benchmark of the asset mix ranges (i.e., a portfolio consisting of 70%
of the FTSE TMX Short-Term Bond Index total return, and 30% of the total
return of the S&P/TSX Composite Index, over a four year moving average or
complete market cycle).
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Investment Holdings 

At December 31, 2019, the investments had a total market value of $64 million made up of 
portfolios for the General ($17 million), Compensation ($28 million), and E&O ($19 
million) Funds, governed by one common Investment Policy which currently sets the 
investment mix at 70% in fixed income and 30% Canadian equities. 

2019 Investment Performance 

The Committee receives biannual reports on investment performance from AON. The 
AON Discussion Guide Q4 2019 is included, which notes that the Investment Manager 
underperformed the benchmark by just under 3% in 2019 and by approximately 25 basis 
points (.25%) over the four year benchmark period. 

In 2020, market volatility has resulted in unrealized losses in the year to May 20 of $4.7 
million spread between the General Fund ($1.2 million), the Compensation Fund ($2.1 
million) and the E&O Fund ($1.4 million). The Committee discussed the market volatility 
with representatives from Foyston, Gordon & Payne and AON. 

The Committee’s Work Plan for 2020 includes activities related to the review of the 
Investment Advisor, the Law Society’s investment policy and the fit of the Investment 
Manager with an updated policy. 
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Prepared by Aon

The Law Society of Ontario Discussion Guide

Q4 2019
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Proprietary & Confidential
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Proprietary & Confidential

Executive Summary – Gross of Fees 

3

Performance (%) Estimated 
Annual Fee 

(bps)
Performance 
Objective Met

Action 
Required6 Months 1 Year 4 Years

Total E&O Insurance 
Fund Return 1.53 5.82 3.16

16.4 No No
Total Fund Value Added -0.47 -2.98 -0.27

Total Compensation 
Fund Return 1.52 5.76 3.14

16.4 No No
Total Fund Value Added -0.48 -3.04 -0.29

Total General Fund 
Return 1.52 5.76 3.15

16.4 No No
Total Fund Value Added -0.48 -3.04 -0.28

Convocation - Audit & Finance Committee Report

210



Proprietary & Confidential

Executive Summary – Net of Fees 

4

Performance (%) Estimated 
Annual Fee 

(bps)
Performance 
Objective Met

Action 
Required6 Months 1 Year 4 Years

Total E&O Insurance 
Fund Return 1.45 5.65 3.00

16.4 No No
Total Fund Value Added -0.55 -3.15 -0.43

Total Compensation 
Fund Return 1.44 5.59 2.98

16.4 No No
Total Fund Value Added -0.56 -3.21 -0.45

Total General Fund 
Return 1.44 5.59 2.98

16.4 No No
Total Fund Value Added -0.56 -3.21 -0.45
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Proprietary & Confidential

Strategy Performance – E&O Insurance Fund

5

Strategy Rating

6 Months 4 Years

Estimated Annual 
Fee (bps)

Action 
RequiredAbsolute 

Return 
(%)

Value 
Added 

(%)

Absolute 
Return 

(%)

Value 
Added 

(%)

FGP Canadian Equity Buy 3.29 -2.43 8.61 -1.67 45.0 No

FGP Short Term Bond Not Rated 0.83 0.42 2.01 0.49 5.0 No

FGP Money Market Not Rated 0.90 0.07 1.24 0.22 5.0 No
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Proprietary & Confidential

Strategy Performance – Compensation Fund

6

Strategy Rating

6 Months 4 Years

Estimated Annual 
Fee (bps)

Action 
RequiredAbsolute 

Return 
(%)

Value 
Added 

(%)

Absolute 
Return 

(%)

Value 
Added 

(%)

FGP Canadian Equity Buy 3.29 -2.43 8.49 -1.79 45.0 No

FGP Short Term Bond Not Rated 0.83 0.42 2.02 0.50 5.0 No

FGP Money Market Not Rated 0.90 0.07 1.24 0.22 5.0 No
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Proprietary & Confidential

Strategy Performance – General Fund

7

Strategy Rating

6 Months 4 Years

Estimated Annual 
Fee (bps)

Action 
RequiredAbsolute 

Return 
(%)

Value 
Added 

(%)

Absolute 
Return 

(%)

Value 
Added 

(%)

FGP Canadian Equity Buy 3.29 -2.43 8.47 -1.81 45.0 No

FGP Short Term Bond Not Rated 0.83 0.42 2.01 0.49 5.0 No

FGP Money Market Not Rated 0.90 0.07 1.24 0.22 5.0 No
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Proprietary & Confidential

Manager Updates 

8

Manager Name Quarterly Update ESG Rating

Foyston, Gordon & Payne (“FGP”) No significant events impacting Law Society of Ontario. 3
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Appendix A: Economic and Market Overview

9
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Proprietary & Confidential

Capital Markets Overview

10

 While economic data appeared to stabilize in 
the fourth quarter, a number of economic 
indicators continue to point to lackluster growth 
and potential risks ahead. Equity markets 
largely shrugged off these concerns with 
market momentum predicated predominantly 
on progress in U.S.-China trade negotiations. 

 The U.S. Federal Reserve cut interest rates by 
25bps to 1.50%-1.75% in October. In the latest 
"dot plot", the majority of the Federal Open 
Market Committee believed that interest rates 
will stay at current levels for at least the next 
year, with the next 25bps hike not anticipated 
until 2021.

 The European Central Bank (ECB) kept its 
monetary policy unchanged. Incoming ECB 
president, Christine Lagarde, rejected fears 
that the eurozone could continue to have ultra-
low rates, growth and inflation indefinitely.

 The Canadian economy slowed to an 
annualized rate of 1.3% in the third quarter. 
Consumer spending and housing investments 
supported growth over the quarter, while 
slowing exports growth detracted. 
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Proprietary & Confidential

Capital Markets Overview 

11

 The Canadian yield curve shifted upwards 
over the quarter with yields rising across all 
maturities. The BoC kept interest rates on hold 
at 1.75% in its latest meeting, and tempered 
expectations of future rate cuts by reiterating 
its positive economic outlook. Meanwhile, BoC
governor, Stephen Poloz, announced his 
decision to step down when his seven-year 
term expires in June of next year. 

 The yield curve flattened as yields at 
intermediate maturities rose sharply relative to 
longer maturity bonds, while the 2-year bond 
and 10-year bond yield reversed its previous 
inversion, ending the quarter level at 1.70%. 
Canada’s annual inflation rate rose to 2.2% in 
November on the back of higher energy prices, 
exceeding the central bank’s 2.0% target. 
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Appendix B: Aon Asset Allocation Views

12
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Medium Term Views

13
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Appendix C: Thought Leadership

14
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Proprietary & Confidential

Thought Leadership Papers

During the last quarter, we produced papers on the following topics. Although these topics may not be directly applicable to your 
fund, they may be of general interest and provide some insight into Aon’s global research. 

For more details, please contact your Aon Investment Consultant.

 How is Picking Investment Managers Like Choosing Charities? – This article outlines five similarities between picking investment 
managers and picking charities. Dated December 2019. 

 Real Estate Investing in the Current Interest Rate Environment – This article looks at some of the fundamental factors driving 
interest rates lower and discusses how real estate may benefit given the expectation that interest rates will remain lower for 
longer. Dated December 2019.

 Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning – This article explores how the Hedge Fund Industry is implementing technological 
advances including artificial intelligence and machine learning. Dated December 2019.

 Aon’s Canadian Capital Accumulation Plans (CAP) Points of View – This document is the first in a series of papers that will set 
out Aon’s Canadian Points of View with respect to CAPs. As the first installment of the series, this document outlines a general
overview of CAPs, while upcoming installments will provide more in-depth analyses on specific topics. Dated December 2019.

15
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Appendix D: Glossary
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Glossary

Overall ESG Rating What does this mean?

4
 The Fund Management Team demonstrates high awareness of all known and potentially financially 

material ESG risks in the investment strategy and, at present, has incorporated appropriate processes to 
identify, evaluate and potentially mitigate these risks across the entire portfolio.

3  The Fund Management Team demonstrates an above average awareness of potential ESG risks in the 
investment strategy and has taken essential steps to identify, evaluate and potentially mitigate these risks.

2  The Fund Management Team is aware of potential ESG risks in the investment strategy and has taken 
some steps to identify, evaluate and potentially mitigate these risks.

1  The Fund Management Team appears unaware or unconcerned with ESG risks in the investment strategy 
and has not taken any material steps to address ESG considerations in the portfolio.  

N/A (Not Applicable)  An evaluation of ESG risks is not directly applicable to this strategy and therefore an ESG rating has not 
been assessed.

NR (Not Rated)  An evaluation of ESG risks is not yet available for this strategy.

17
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Appendix E: Glossary
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Aon Happenings

19

Coming Soon: Townsend Global Real Estate*
 AHIM is working with Townsend to launch an open-end direct global 

real estate solution built specifically for Canadian investors.
 The solution capitalizes on prevailing market conditions, investment 

themes and our manager expertise. 
 Launching January 2020.
 For further information please contact Lila Han.

Factor Investing
 AHIM recently launched a global equity multi-factor solution for Canadian 

clients.
 Four factors were selected offering the most robust evidence: value, 

quality, momentum and low volatility.
 The solution will be updated to incorporate meaningful exclusions 

targeting some of the core themes around responsible investing such a 
reduced carbon footprint and no investment in the coal and tobacco 
sectors.   

Your new Aon Client Portal is live!
On the portal, you can securely access:
 Documents shared by your consultant
 Manager research
 Thought leadership 
Your consultant will be reaching out to you with further details.

*Investment funds and services offered through Aon Hewitt Investment Management Inc. (AHIM)

Aon placed second place for the eighth 
year in a row in assets under 
advisement, with $3.52 trillion in 
worldwide institutional assets under 
advisement, up 13% year over year as 
of June 30, 2019.

For the full report click here

Pension & Investments November 
2019 Annual Special Report: 
Investment Consultants

2019 Global Perspectives on 
Responsible Investing Survey

Investors who consider responsible 
investing at least somewhat important to 
their organization jumped from 68 
percent in our 2018 survey to 85 percent 
in 2019 

To download the full report click here

2020 Market Outlook Webinar

Connecting the Dots and Implementing 
Best Ideas in Investment Portfolios

For a recording click here
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Legal Disclaimer

20

© 2020 Aon Hewitt Inc. All Rights Reserved.

This document contains confidential information and trade secrets protected by copyrights owned by Aon Hewitt Inc.. The 
document is intended to remain strictly confidential and to be used only for your internal needs and only for the purpose for 
which it was initially created by Aon Hewitt Inc.. No part of this document may be disclosed to any third party or reproduced 
by any means without the prior written consent of Aon Hewitt Inc..
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FOR INFORMATION

INVESTMENT COMPLIANCE 
REPORTS

The Committee recommends that Convocation receives the Investment Compliance 

Reports for information. 

Under the Law Society Investment Policy, Law Society management shall report quarterly 
on compliance with the approved investment policy. 

The Law Society, and its investment manager, has complied with the Investment 
Policy for the period ending December 31, 2019. 

Audit & Finance Committee – Report to Convocation 
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Investment Parameters Guidelines Compliance
1. Asset Mix
Federal and provincial treasury bills Allowed Yes
Bankers acceptances Allowed Yes
Commercial paper Allowed Yes
Investment Manager Money Market Fund Allowed Yes
Premium Savings Account Allowed Yes
FGP Money Market Fund Allowed Yes

2. Quality Requirements
Commercial paper rating Min. R1 N/A

Liquidity
Max term to 

maturity of 365 
days

Yes

3. Quantity Restrictions
Commercial paper of a single corporate issuer Max 8% of fund Yes

4. Other Restrictions
Equity Securities None Yes
Direct investments in: 

Resource properties
Mortgages and mortgage-backed securities None Yes
Real estate None Yes
Venture capital financing None Yes

Derivatives None Yes

Christianne Abou-Saab
Director, Finance

LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO
STATEMENT  OF INVESTMENT COMPLIANCE SHORT TERM
As at December 31, 2019
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Law Society of Ontario 
Compensation Fund 

Manager: Foyston, Gordon & Payne Inc. 

Compliance Report 
(Period ending December 31, 2019)

1. Asset Mix: Min. Mid-Point Max. 
Compliance* 

(Y/N) 

Cash & Short Term 0% 0% 15% Y 

Bonds 45% 70% 80% Y 

Total Fixed Income 60% 70% 80% Y 

Canadian Equity 20% 30% 40% Y 

Minimum bond rating “BBB” or better by the Dominion Bond Rating Service or equivalent rating by 
another recognized bond rating service. 

Y 

Each bond portfolio may be invested within the following parameters: 

Minimum holding in Federal and Federally Guaranteed Bonds FTSE TMX Short Term Bond Index 
Benchmark Weight minus 20% Y 

Provincials, Provincially Guarantees and Municipals FTSE TMX Short Term Bond Index 
Benchmark Weight plus or minus 20% Y 

Maximum Total Corporate Issues FTSE TMX Short Term Bond Index 
Benchmark Weight plus 20% Y 

Maximum Total Corporate BBB Issues FTSE TMX Short Term Bond Index 
Benchmark Weight plus 10% Y 

Not more than 10% of the total market value of the bond portfolio will be invested in securities issued by a foreign 
issuer, or Canadian issuer. Y 

Bond portfolio duration 1 to 5 years. Y 

The Market value of any one common equity issuer cannot represent more than 10% of the market value of the 
total portfolio, or that equity’s weight in the S&P/TSX Composite Index, whichever is greater. Y 

Note: In mid-June 2014 Law Society Compensation Fund moved into the FGP Short Term Bond Fund from the 
segregated Short Term Bonds. 

Investment policy dated February 23, 2017. 

*If policy not complied with, comment on specifics.

January 29, 2020 
Date: Robert Laughton, Vice President – 

Institutional Client Services 
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Law Society of Ontario 
General Fund 

Manager: Foyston, Gordon & Payne Inc. 

Compliance Report 
(Period ending December 31, 2019)

1. Asset Mix: Min. Mid-Point Max. 
Compliance* 

(Y/N) 

Cash & Short Term 0% 0% 15% Y 

Bonds 45% 70% 80% Y 

Total Fixed Income 60% 70% 80% Y 

Canadian Equity 20% 30% 40% Y 

Minimum bond rating “BBB” or better by the Dominion Bond Rating Service or equivalent rating by 
another recognized bond rating service. 

Y 

Minimum holding in Federal and Federally Guaranteed Bonds FTSE TMX Short Term Bond Index 
Benchmark Weight minus 20% Y 

Provincials, Provincially Guarantees and Municipals 
FTSE TMX Short Term Bond Index 
Benchmark Weight plus or minus 
20% 

Y 

Maximum Total Corporate Issues FTSE TMX Short Term Bond Index 
Benchmark Weight plus 20% Y 

Maximum Total Corporate BBB Issues FTSE TMX Short Term Bond Index 
Benchmark Weight plus 10% Y 

Not more than 10% of the total market value of the bond portfolio will be invested in securities issued by a 
foreign issuer, or Canadian issuer. Y 

Bond portfolio duration 1 to 5 years. Y 

The Market value of any one common equity issuer cannot represent more than 10% of the market value of 
the total portfolio, or that equity’s weight in the S&P/TSX Composite Index, whichever is greater. Y 

Note: In mid-June 2014 Law Society General Fund moved into the FGP Short Term Bond Fund from the segregated 
Short Term Bonds. 

Investment policy dated February 23, 2017. 

*If policy not complied with, comment on specifics.

January 29, 2020 
Date: Robert Laughton, Vice President – 

Institutional Client Services 
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Law Society of Ontario – E&O Insurance Fund 

Foyston, Gordon & Payne Inc. 14 

Compliance Report 

January 22, 2020

Ms. Brenda Albuquerque-Boutilier 
Executive Director, Finance & Chief Financial Officer 
Law Society of Ontario 
130 Queen Street West 
Osgood Hall, 1First Floor 
Toronto, Ontario 
M5H 2N6 

Dear Brenda: 

Re: Manager Compliance Reporting 

For the Law Society Errors and Omissions Insurance Fund, we wish to confirm that the portfolio 
being managed by Foyston, Gordon & Payne Inc. was in compliance with the Fund’s 
Investment Policy Statement dated February 23, 2017, for the quarter ending December 31, 2019. 

Yours truly, 

Robert Laughton 
Vice President – Institutional Client Services 
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